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PREFATORY REMARKS.

Tue novel circumstance, in the trial of an action for libel,

of the defendant commencing with his case, and thereby
obtaining the advantage of a first impression, makes it
necessary to request the attention of the reader fo a short
statement, before he enters upon a perusal of the following
pages.

Mr. Branshy Cooper entertained, and had, without re-
serve, expressed opinions very unfavourable of the science,
the candour, and the moral rectitude of the publication
called the Lancet. Ile had reason to believe that an in=
dividual, who possessed the privilege of attending at Guy’s
Hospital, had used that privilege for the purpose of mak-
ing communications to the author of that work. He was
not however aware, before the fact was disclosed at the
Trial, that such communications were made the subject of
pecuniary traffic. Upon more than one occasion he had
noticed the conduct of that individual in terms of marked
disapprobation, and had thereby, as he was informed, given
rise to very vindictive feelings, denoted by a declaration
which it will be seen in the following pages, that the in-
dividual alluded to, would not deny upon his oath, that « he
would watch some opportunity to make Mr. Cooper re-
pent.” That opportunity was supposed to present itself
upon occasion of a very peculiar and difficult case of litho-
tomy, in which Mr. Cooper was called on to operate at
Guy’s Hospital. The design to publish the case was first
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Sir Astley Cooper, and a corrupt influence exercised in his
favour amongst the governors of that institution.

These libels form the ground of the action which Mr.
Cooper thought it due to his reputation and his honour to
bring against the editor of the Lancet. The Defendant,
by his pleas, admitted the publication, and did not deny the
motives alleged for it, but undertook to prove the truth of
what he had asserted. His failure, and the verdict of the
jury for the Plaintiff, are known. But the garbled manner
in which the evidence has found its way to the publie, and
the impression which may possibly be made by the singular
accident of the Defendant’s case being first published,
without the least intimation, much less explanation of the
Plaintiff’s, induces him to lay before the reader a full ac-
count of the trial, taken in short-hand by Mr. Gurney,
This is the only method left, imperfect as it is, of imparting
to the reader something of that full convietion and lively
indignation which, with the exception of the Defendant,
and a few of his adherents, animated the whole of a most
intelligent audience, who heard the trial, and who confi-
dently expected much larger damages than the jury, after
the very proper exhortation of the judge to moderation and
temperance, thought it right to give. Mr. Cooper was
always indifferent to any amount of damages beyond what
might be sufficient to mark the clear opinion of the jury.
He is well satisfied with their verdict, They consisted of
ten special and two common jurymen. He has nothing
further to say upon that subject, except that he would have
preferred a full special jury ; not because he imagined that
any honest man, who heard the evidence, could entertain a
doubt of the malice or the falsehood of the libels, but be-
cause he was aware that the character and system of the
defendant’s work made it less likely to find favourers
and supporters in proportion to the science, the taste, and
the refinement of those who might sit in judgment upon the
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En the RKing’s BVench,

WESTMINSTER HALL,
December 12th, 1828,

COOPER v. WAKLEY.*

TRIED BEFORE LORD TENTERDEN AND A SPECIAL JURY,

THE following Special Jurymen answered to their pames:—

THOMAS HENRY, Merchant, EDWARD BURN, Merchant.
HENRY LAING, Merchant. BURRAGE DA"-’ENP:{}R'lf.h‘Iﬁmhant.
-RICHARD PRANCE, Merchant. JOHN OLIVER HANSON, Merchant.
G. MARCELLUS ROCHER, Mercht, DUNCAN M'LACHLAN, Merchant,
HUNTLEY BACON, Merchant. ISAAC WESTMORELAND, Merchant.

Talesmen.
JOSEPH THOMAS, JOHN WHEELER.

Counsel for the Plaintiff.
Sir JAMES SCARLETT, Mr. POLLOCK, Mr. SCARLETT.

Solicitors for the Plaintiff—Messrs. PATERsON and PEILE.

Solicitors for the Defendani—Messrs, Fairraor~E and Lorry.
The Jury were sworn.

The Pleadings were opened by Mr. SCARLETT.

Nir James Searlett —Your Lordship will allow me to state, that in this
case some of the affirmative issues are thrown upon the Plaintiff, who is to
prove his own skill, although there is no general issue,

Lord Tenterden.—W hich are those jssues 3

Sir James Scarlett.—1 will state them to your Lordship,~~¢ The Plainfiff
then and there performed the sajd operation in an unskilful and unsurgeon-
like manner, and did then and there,” it is the fourth plea, ¢ by such unskil-
fulness, cause the said patient a much greater degree of pain and sufferin g than
he would otherwise, and but for that cause, have iffeurred."—My Lord, it is
quite clear that the one jg skill, and the other want of skill ; and, indepen-
dently of that, as the object of this case is to recover damages not liquidated,
I apprehend the Plaintiff has a clear right to begin,—The third plea is this—

.F..-::rrf Tenterden —]| wish the particular passage of the fourth plea to be
pointed out

Sir James Searlett.—The third plea is, « That he was a much longer time

* The Libels, forming the subject of

; this Action, were read by [, T
and will be found in his Lordship's Addr 1 ¥ Lord Tenterden,

e5s to the Jury.
bi]






- Purties was entitled to begin. 3

being opened, a question arose which party should begin. The right was
claimed for the Defendant, as he did not deny the trespasses, and was bound
to make out his justification. For the Plaintiff it was contended, on the other
hand, that not guilty having been pleaded to part of the declaration, the
issue lay upon him.” Judge Bayley held

Lord Tenterden.—The Defendant was allowed to begin ?

Mr. Wakley.—He was, my Lord,

Lord Tenterden.—Mention shortly the other cases.

Mr. Walkiey.—The other is in 2d Starkie, Jackson . Hesketh, ¢ Trespass
for breaking and entering the Plaintiff's closes. After the pleadings had been
opened, it was insisted by the Counsel for the Defendant that he had a right
to begin."

Lord Tenterden.—There were some other pleas.

Myr. Wakley.—¢ And for a further plea in this behalf as to the breaking
and entering the said closes of the said Plaintiff, and with feet in walking,
treading down, trampling upon, consuming and spoiling the grass and corn
of the said Plaintiff there growing and being in the said close, &e., and then
proceeded to justify the alleged trespass under a public right of way, upon
which issues were joined.”

Lord Tenterden.—That was a right of way

Mr. Wakley—Yes, my Lord. < After the pleadings had been opened, it
was insisted by the Counsel for the Defendant that he had a right to begin,
since the affirmative of the issue lay upon the Defendant to prove the right
of way as alleged in the plea. The practice in ejectment was referred to as
analogous to the present ; there, if the Lessor of the Plaintiff claimed as heir
at law, and the Defendant as devisee, and the Defendant admitied that the
Lessor of the Plaintiff was the heir at law, the Defendant was entitled to
begin. Mr. Serjeant Cross, Pell, and Starkie for the Plaintiff contended that
he was entitled to begin, and to make the general reply according to the usual
practice,"

Lord Tenterden.—He was allowed to begin ?

Myr. Wakley.—Yes, he was, my Lord. There is another case still more
strong, where Judge Bayley remarked, that the question of damages did not
arise till after the issue was tried, and although the learned gentleman states,
in this case, that in those cases where the damages are certain, the affirmative
issue rests with the Plaintiff, it does not appear to me that the damages are yet
certain at all, but, on the contrary, that there will be no damages atall; and I
hope the practice of the Court will not be reversed in this case, The other
case is in Ist Ryan and Moody's Reports, page 203, Bedell . Russell—
Trespass. The declaration contained several counts for assaulting, beating,
and shooting at the Plaintiff on divers occasions; pleas, (without the general
issue) that Plaintiff was a mariner on board a certain ship of which the De-
fendant was commander, that the Plaintiff at the said times when, &e. was
engaged in mutiny, to suppress which the Defendant committed the tres
complained of; replication, de injuria, and generally to all the pleas and
issuies thereon. The pleadings having been opened, it was insisted by Wilde,
SEI'JEHM for the Defendant, that he had a right to begin, inasmuch as the
affirmative of the issues lay upon him, namely, to prove the facts alleged ;

and he cited Hodges v Holder, 3 Campbell, 866, Jack
2 Starkie, 518, K mpbell, ackson v, Hesketh,
B2







Parties was entitled to begin. b

aforesaid.” That is a direct allegation of negative propositions throughout
in their nature. In the case before Lord Chief Justice Best, your Lordship

observes, his opinion was in the case of damages, and more especially un-

liquidated damages he should have thought upon principle the Plaintiff should

begin ; but he imagined the cases were the other way; that where the affirma-

tive was upon the Defendant, the Defendant should begin. 1t is highly expe-

dient that general observations in reply should be made by the party who .
seeks redress, and not by the party who publishes a second time; and in the

most solemn form, the original calumny.

Lord Tenterden—(To the Defendant).—You should direct your atien-
tion to the particular point that Sir James Scarlett suggests, as one of the
grounds upon which he contends the Plaintiff should begin. He states that,
looking at those pleas, there are certain parts in them of which it is incumbent
upon him to prove the affirmative. I want you to direct your attention to
these parts of the pleas; and, in order that you may do so with greater
facility, I was going to direct your attention to the particular parts of the par-
ticular pleas that Sir James Scarlett has relied upon, considering that you
might not be so well aware of them. Furst, tun to your second plea of
justification ; there you find you allege * that the operation was a melan-
choly exhibition, and was performed by the Plaintiff without proper and
sufficient skill, dexterity, and self-possession, and that the Plaintiff did not
perform the operation with that degree of skill that the public had’ a right to
expect from a surgeon of Guy’s Hospital ; that the said case did not present
such difficulties as no degree of skill could have surmounted in less time or
with less disastrous consequences; and that the patieut lost his life, not because
his case was really one of extraordinary difficulty, but because the Plaintiff
performed the operation upon him, as aforesaid.” That is one. Now turn to
the next plea, that is this; « The Plaintiff performed the operation of litho-
tomy, and therein occupied along space of time, to wit, the space of fifty
minutes; being a much longer time than was necessary or proper, or than a
skilful surgeon would have oecupied in that behalf ; and that the Plaintiffper-
formed the operation in an unskilful and unsurgeon-like manoer, and did then
and there, by such unskilfulness, cause the said patient a much greater degree
of pain and suffering than he would otherwise and but for that cause have
incurred ; and that it was and is doubtful and questionable whether or not the
dealth of the said patient was caused by such unskilfulness, as aforesaid. He
points altention also (o this passage in the fourth plea,  That the Plaintiff
performed the operation in an unskilful and unsurgeon-like manner, and did
lh'?""?: by such unskilfulness, cause the said patient a much greater degree of
pain and suffering than he would otherwise have done.” Sir James Scarleit
contends upon these issues the affirmative is with' him to prove that he did
Perform the operation in a skilful manner, and not in an unskilful manner, as
you call it,

Sir James Scarlett —Yes, 1 say that the Plaintiff must prove his skill,
which T am ready 10 do.

Lord Tenterden.—Yoy must address yourself to these points,
} l\»“{r. Wakley—In reply, I would say first, that the Plaintiff has not stated
14 ?'15 dfﬂfﬂf‘fﬂiﬂn that he is a scientific surgeon ; and further, he has not stat-
ed it was scientifically performed, He charges me with having published
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the Plaintiff is not called upon to give any evidence upon the subject. If the
Defendant should fail in doing that, the Plaintiff will be entitled to a
verdiet.

Sir James Scarlett.—1 acquiesce, as I always do, in your Lordship's judg-
- ment, but there is one consequence that may result, which it is my duty to
state. Suppose it should happen, which I have no doubt will happen, that
this gentleman's whole case, if he attempts to make it out, will fall to pieces.
My Lord, I shall then take the liberty of insisting on behalf of the gentleman
who has been calumniated, that his evidence may be heard, which will prove
most satisfactorily, that the operation was performed with the utmost possible
skill under the circumstances, and that I shall not be satisfied on behalf of
a gentleman of high honour and unspotted reputation in his profession, and
with the public, to have it said, that some particular part of a special plea
was not proved, and that the case was not further inquired into, and that
the Jury are only to ask themselves what damages they are to give. When
a man publishes a libel, and justifies it, the Plaintiff ought to have an oppor-
tunity of proving in a Court of Justice, that the calumny is wholly unfounded,
which will not be the case if the verdict is to pass merely because the Defen-
dant fails to prove his plea. If the Defendant fails, I trust 1 shall not be
told, ¢« you must have your verdict, address yourself to the damages” Ihope
your Lordship will let me give my evidence, which is here to support a cha-
racter hitherto unattacked.

Lord Tenterden.—It would not be proper for me to anticipate what may
be fit to be done, or not to allow to be done in a future stage of the cause;
all I have to do is to hear the point argued, and then give my opinion upon
it. T intended to have added before, that both of my learned Brothers in the
adjoining court, concur with me in the view I stated.

Mr. Wakiey.—As this is a cause of immense importance to every party,
and of a very peeuliar nature, I am under the painful necessity of requesting
that the witnesses on both sides should withdraw.

Sir James Scarlett —The witnesses to facts, if the Defendant insists upon
it, should withdraw, but many witnesses are here to give an opinion upon
facts to be proved.

Lord Tenterden.—They must stay ; they are to hear the evidence, and to
give an opinion upon it.

Sir James Searlett. —The witnesses to facts may withdraw,

Lord Tenterden.—The witnesses to give an opinion upon facts to be
proved must remain.

Sir James Scarlett.—I have no objection to my witnesses withdrawing
who are to prove specific facts.

Mr. Wakley.—All the facts alluded to are printed and written, they are
in the declaration, and if witnesses are to be called to speak to any particular
T3 E S —

Lord Tenterden.—They will be to speak to the evidence.

Sir James Scarlett.—The Defendant assumes the libel to be true.

Lord Tenterden,—Persons to give an opinion upon the evidence, as
matters of science and skill, must be allowed to stay and hear the evidence ;

all who are to speak to facts must withdraw.
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dered that by publishing the lectures delivered in public iustltlﬂmn?—lﬁct'-ll‘ﬂ‘-‘
that I considered public property, because the individuals who published ‘he'f""
were public servanis, I considered it of immense importance to _Pla':E L
contrasl the theories of the lecturers in the lecture room, and the practice of the
same individuals in the wards of the hospital ; by so doing the lecturers them.-
selves were stimulated to the more active discharge of their duties, and their
opinions were laid before the public, and the experienced portion of the pub-
lic had an opportunity of seeing what the talents of the lecturers were, and
whether the practice adopted in the wards was practice to be followed, or
practice to be neglected, : e s
The publication of lectures has given rise to a good deal of discussion in
some other courts of law—the publication of Hospital Reports has always
had a great number of advocates and opponents; the public, and the profes-
sion in general, are the advocates of the practice, and the huspital_sgrgenna,
who have not sufficient talent to endure the scrutiny of public opinion, are
exceedingly opposed to it, because they find they cannot hack and hew their
fellow creatures with impunity. 4
Gentlemen, in the conduct of this journal [ am under the necessity of em-
ploying a great many gentlemen as reporters; they are distributed throughout
the metropolis, in the various institutions, to take notes of the cases admitted,
and carefully reporting their minutes, connected with the treatment such
patients receive. The reporters 1 have employed, as far as T am capable of
judging, and [ have always sought after honourable men, have fulfilled their
duty in an honourable and talented manner; the reports are sent to me, and
relied upon by me, asI am compelled to do; for, like all other editors, 1t is
impossible I can be at St. George's, Guy's, and St. Thomas's Hospitals at the
same time. I employ many of those gentlemen, and they transmit to me
regularly reports of those cases, ;
The report sent to me in this case, was sent to me by a gentleman of high
character, whom I shall call ; he will avow himself to have written it, and will
State that the report is in every respect correct ; that gentleman will acknow-
ledge it in open Court, and I challenge my opponents to the most strict and
scrutinizing investigation of his character. 1 have heard indeed that attempts
will be made to cast some imputation upon that young man, but I defy ca-
lamny, and I challenge scrutiny.  However, Gentlemen, you will yourselves
be the best judges whether this evidence is entitled to credit or not; but when
this report was transmitted to me, as it was made regarding so extraordinary
a character, and as it referred to an operation of a still more extraordinary
character, I paused before 1 inserted it: T waited, T did not insert it in ithe
first number after the operation oceurred ; I waited until the period had artived
for publishing a second number, When this report was brought to me, it cer-
tainly contained the same statements against the operator, rather more harsh
than those which appeared 5 that gentleman considered it was his duty o
characterize such an operation in the slrongest terms of réproach: and, Gens
tlemen, as he assured me upon his honour, before I gave currency to the re.
port, that it was in every respect correct, I had no other course 1o purste in
the discharge of my public duty, whatever the consequences might be, than
to present it to the profession and the public in the manper I have Presentec
it, having slightly altered a few of the expressions, and having introduced the






My, Alderman Partridge. 11

OF his years he appeared a fine healthy countryman ?—It struck me so.*

Did Mr. Cooper or Mr. Callaway introduce the staff ?—I will be hanged
if I can bear that in mind ; I think Mr, Cooper did himself, but I would not
be positive.

Was the staff, after the external incisions had been made, withdrawn }—All
the instruments were withdrawn immediately.

Was a second attempted to be made into the bladder, without the re-in-
troduction of the staff>—The first attempt was made without the staff.

Lord Tenterden—Was the second cut attempted to be made, or was it
made ?—It was made. I speak of the first attempt, or the first effort, after
all the instruments were withdrawn.

A model was produced.

Mr. Walkley.—Was that the position of the patient ?—The head and body
more elevated.

And the hands and feet were tied in this way >—Yes.

And the knees were tied to the neck in this way *—Yes.

And in this position the patient remained nearly one hour ?

Lord Tenterden.—You are making him assert that.

Mr. Wakley.—How long did the patient remain in this position }—It
must have been nearly an hour from the notice I tovk going in and coming out.

During that period was the sound repeatedly introduced }—Yes.

Lord Tenterden.—The sound is an instrument.

Mr. Wakley.—Yes, Several of these staves or one?—One several times
I should say.

‘Were several cuts attempted to be made into the bladder with a knife of this
description ?*—(exhibiting one )—Yes, certainly; [ do not know whether
with a knife of that description. :

Woas this instrument pushed into the wound that the operator had made; the
cutting gorget ?—

Sir James Scarlett —These are leading questions from the beginning : but
I will not object. .

Mr. Walkiey—I will put them in any way.

Lord Tenterden.—The proper course is to ask what was done.

Mr. Wakley,—Was the cutting gorget introduced »—Yes,

Was the blunt gorget used also ?—Yes.

Was the scoop introduced }—VYes,

Were several pairs of forceps introduced ?—1I noticed two pairs, the straight
and curved.

Lord Tenterden~You noticed the introduction of them ?—Yes.

Sir James Scarlett.—You do not mean at the same time >—No.

Mr. Wakley.—One is enough for the occasion. Did the patient manifest
great pain during the introduction of those instruments ?—He called out durin g
the operation several times to desist,

Did he request to be loosened ?—He did to that effect: he desired that Mr.
Cooper would leave off, and desist altogether.

Did the operator at the same time declare he could not explain the diffi-
culty /—Yes,

'_' As to the patient’s state of health, and his being a favourable subject for the ope-
ration, see the evidence of Mr, Callaway.
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Tord Tenterden.—You thought there was an opening, because you saw
an issue of watery matter mixed with blood »—Yes.

Mr,Wakley.—How did the fluid escape, with a gush, or in agradual stream?
—Not in a gush, a moderate stream ; not with a large gush, as it often does.

Did he say he could feel the stone with the staff, when it was passed
through the urethra? —Yes, he did.

Did he say he could feel the stone in the bladder, when he passed the
sound through the wound in the perineum ?}—Yes, he felt the stone both ways.

Did he state at the same time that he could not feel the stone with the
forceps *—Yes, or immediately afterwards.

- Why do you imagine he could feel the stone with the sound through the
perinieum, and not with the forceps —For this very reason that the stone
laid very highiu the bladder, and the forceps were straight or slightly curved,
and consequently the forceps passed under the stone.

Did Mr. Cooper repeatedly endeavour to feel the stone with his finger >—
Yes, he made many attempts.

Did he leave his seat and measure fingers with a gentleman present, to see
if he had along finger >—Yes, he either left his seat, or was standing, and
turned round to that person,

Do you believe, taking all the circumstances into consideration, that Mr,
Cooper performed the operation in a scientific manner ?¥—No, I could not say
I thought he did, certainly.*

Do you believe that the operation was performed in a manner that the
public had a right to expect from a Surgeon of Guy’s Hospital ?

Lord Tenterden—One does not know what is meant by being performed
in a manner that the public had a right to expect. He should perform it
with sufficient skill ; it is very immaterial whether he puts it in that form.

Mr. Wakicy.—Those are the very words charged.

Lord Tenterden—Yes, theyare.

Mr. Wakley,.—Do you think that the operation was performed in a man-

ner that the public had a right to expect from a Surgeon of Guy's Hospital ?
—That operation

Yes.—No, I do not think it was,

What has been the average time occupied in those operations of lithotomy
you have seen ?—I suppose about five ‘minutes, one with another ; sometimes

more, sometimes less; about four or five minutes, T think that is about the
time.

How long a period did this operation accupy ?—I thought it was nearly an
hour, and I believe it was nearly an hour,

After the staff had been introduced, and the first incision made, Mr, Cooper

withdrew the staff ?—He did not use that sort of staff, he used a straight staff
with a knife.

* That the operation was one of great difficulty, and was skilfully performed, is
proved 1!1’_ Mr. Callaway ; whose opinion is confirmed by the evidence of My, Key,
Mr. Brodie, Mr. Travers, Mr. Green, Mr. Morgan, and Mr. Dalrymple. The reader
is also referred to the evidence of Mr. Callaway, Mr. Key, and Sir Astley Cooper,

“hi.“h shews, that no one but tlie operator can form an adequate judgment of the diffi-
culties of an operation of lithotomy, -
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Lord Tenterden.—Did you see it weighed ?—No, [ should say from'a
drachm and a half to two drachms; not more than two drachms certainly.

Mr. Walkiey.—Have stones weighing several ounces been successfully re-
moved }—Yes,

You stated that the stone, you thought, was lodged high up :—Yes; I do
not think about it, 1 am satisfied it did.

How can a stone be lodged above the pubes ;—It was lodged above the*
pubes there in consequence of the bladder lodging upon the pubes; the
bladder itself rises rather above it ; the natural position of the bladder is up
by the side of the pubes; I think it was lodged above the pubes, in conse-
quence of the sound hitting the stone on withdrawing it. ;

Can any portion of the bladder be above the pubes if the bladder be in a
fit state when it is emptied )—VYes, certainly, it can be quite as high, and
higher; but really. that is an anatomical question that I should be ashamed
if I did not answer correctly—quite as high.

It is the upper portion of the bladder—the furthest part of it ?—Yes, the
furthest part of it.

If the opening made in the bladder was not sufficiently large to admit the
forceps, could the stone be laid hold of by the forceps without at the same
time grasping the coats of the bladder }—No, not without grasping the coats
of the bladder; but I very much doubt if you could get hold of it at all,
unless you got into the bladder,

Whether the stone was situated high or low >—If it was situated upon the
rectum you would push on and get hold of the bladder and stone and all ;
but that is a piece of violence I never witnessed,

I wish this point to be clearly understood by his Lordship and the jury ;—
you state that the stone was lodged above the pubes i—Yes, that is the im-
pression of my mind.

Will you be so obliging as to stale what could retain it there if the bladder
was empty and the stone was not fastened or was not attached to the bladder,
—I cannot tell you exactly what detained it there, but I am perfectly satisfied
it was above, on this particular acconnt—that the sound always touched it #n
withdrawing it, and it was at last extracted by pressure above the pubes and
depression of the handle of the instrument, the curve being turned upwards—
by using a curved pair of forceps, and by external pressure above the pubes.

Had the operator, do you consider, from the manner in which he used the
forceps, any idea of the situation of the stone ?—Certainly not ; if he had he
would have exercised that precautionary measure before, affer getting into
the bladder.*

Cross-evamined by Stk JAMES SCARLETT,

Did you make the report to the editor of the # Lancet ;" —No.

Have you attended any meeting since of Mr. Wakley and his witnesses y—
I saw the attorney last night for the first time at eight or nine o'clock.

Had your opinion ever been taken upon it before last night }—Never; do
you mean had my opinion ever been given to Mr. Wakley ?

* That Mr. Cooper conceived the stone to be in the anterior part of the bladder,
nn:‘1 that external pressure above the pubes was applied in an early stage of the ope-
ration, is proved by the evidence of Mr, Callaway.
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withdraw the staff, only the knife; you keep the staff in and introduee youf
finger to ascertain the wound you have made. _ o

If you ascertain that the wound is sufficient, (I am not speaking O_t’ this
operation,) and your finger is inserted into the bladder, you endeavuurfu feel
the stone with your finger 7—Yes, I believe many would be pleased if they
could, but it is not always the case,

Lord Tenterden—Do you endeavour to do it >—Yes,

Sir James Scarlett.—1f you are so fortunate, then you may direct the
forceps along the finger, and take hold of the stone atthe end of the finger ?—
You must have made a very large wound, or have a very small pair of forceps,
or you would not get the finger and forceps in at the same time.

If you have oceasion to make a larger incision, and your finger is in the
bladder, what is the course you take then :—The course I should take if I had
got my staff in, would be to withdraw my finger and introduce the knife
again, and cairy the knife along the groove again, and make a larger angle |
and consequently a larger wound with the knife and staff then I had done
before. '

If the staff is withdrawn, you know the urethra is cut with the knife *—Yes.

Could you introduce the staff again through the urethra with safety ;—1I¢
is all laid open, it is one wound. I could introduce it through, that it must
communicate with the wound.

Suppose the staff to be withdrawn after the urethra and the bladder are
opened, could the staff with propriety be introduced again through the urethra
with safety ?>—There is no necessity, '

If there was a necessity, ought it to be so introduced !—~You mean com-
mencing at the end of the penis? You might, but it would be useless.

Would there not be a chance of the staf coming out of the wound and
running below »—The eurved one would not.

How could you be sure of that, that the curved one would not come out }—
The man that passed it out could net be aware what he was about, that is
all T know. .

But you are of opinion there is no oceasion to introduce the staff through
the urethra ?—Certainly not, not through the sound part of it.

After a cut is once made, the staff operates as a sound >—A straight staff
will not do it with facility. '

Do not they use the staff after a sufficient incision is made, merely by way
of a sound ;—No, certainly not.

What is the use of it >—To satisfy yourself you have made your wound
large enough, if you can withdraw it, it is of no further use. ~You do not
want three or four instruments in the bladgder at one time.

E:uppﬂse you cannot find the stone with the forceps, and want to ascerlain
again where it is, where would you introduce it, through the perineal open-
ing or through the urethra ?—Through the perinzzal opening upon my finger_

Whereabout did you stand when the operation was performed »—1I had g
chair, and sat immediately behind Mr, Cooper.

Did you know him >—T never saw him before that day,

Now I will come 1o the particular operation, You stated {hat you had no

c
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very likely mistaken sometimes, if he got hurried. _ oy

He ought to be the best judge ?—Yes, T should judge immediately by what,
1ssued from the bladder, the same as every bye-stander.. N

Are you prepared o swear that the forceps were applied the second_time,
and pushed with considerable force ;—L have never stated in my evidence it
was the second time. ¥

Will you state it >—I should have no objection to swear the first,

When the forceps were applied the second time, were they applied with
considerable force ?—No, I do net think I will take npon me to swear that
—they were the first time used with considerable force—not that they were
used twice with considerable force, without going iato the bladder. .

Can you tell whether it got into the bladder the second time >—He got into
the bladder in a short time, whether it was the first or second T do not know.
. “ The forceps were again used, but as unsuccessfully as before ; they were

pushed onwards to a considerable distance and with no small ‘degree! of
force #"—They certainly were pushed on after a while ta a very considerable
distance, inasmuch as they were pushed in as far as the bladder would allow
them to go. : :

You were of opinion they were pushed into the bladder?—Yes.

You have said this report is correct ; do you not see that the object of this
18 to shew that the second time the forceps were introduced they were not ‘in-
troduced into the bladder, but pushed onwards with considerable force ;— Let
me look at it ; my object is to be as correct as passihle ; this representation,
immediately following “ somewhere,” appears to me to refer ta the first at:
tempt to get the forceps in. ' ' W

Please to go on. ¢ The forceps were again used, but as unstccessfully as
before ; they were pushed onwards to a considerable distance, and with no
small degree of force.” We are agreed that the first meant to represent that
they did not get into the bladder at all, the second must mean the same.
“ The forceps were again used, but as unsuccessfully as before ; they were
pushed onwards, and with no small degree of force.”—~That I am not pre-
pared to swear to the truth of, and I am not prepared to contradict it.

You do not recollect 7—No; that is a part I could not swear to, one way
or another. f ; '

You did not take particular notice 7—No,

To whom did you make a communication of your opinion of this opera-
tion; because, though you did not to Mr. Wakley or his attorney, vou must
have done it to somebody }—1I spoke of it; it was a natural consequenca ; T
could not help it. iy

To whom ?—T could not say whom ; we have several medical men who
practise at Colchester and in our hospital ; T dare say I told them both of it. -

Re-cxamined by Mr. WAKLEY.

The staff was re-introduced through the urethra after the first iuciaipn-had
been made *—Certainly, ' i

The second time »—Yes, certainly ; that is my opinion.
c 2

standers of the real fact?—He ought to be, but T s’ll?u_ln_i'siappogé' Iﬁrgli' to be
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If the operator could not get the forceps into the bladder, wh.ere could
they go >—They went outside of it, T cannot tell where they went m.tu.

Sir James Scarlett.—It is a very fit answer; if they could not get in, they
went without it :

Mr. Wakley~Did Mr. Cooper say he could not reach the bladder with
his finger :—He did.

Was much force used by the hand ?—There was great force.

Did Mr. Cooper use more than one gorget }—He did.

Did he introduce sounds and staves into the wound in the perinzum?—
Yes, he did.

Have you on any former occasion witnessed the gorget used after the knife
had been used to cut into the bladder ?—No.

Did he employ the scoup ?—Yes.

Why is that instrument usually employed ?

Lord Tenterden.—You have had that already.

Mr. Walley.—Not from this witness.

Lord Tenterden.—No; but by tne other witness, and they do not ap-
pear to controvert it. The use of the scoop is to take out the fragments of
the stone that may have been broken off' in the operation of withdrawing,

Sir Jasmes Scarlett,—I shall not bind myself, because I do not ask ques-
tions, because I am to make my own case in my own way, and by a different
description of people.

Lord Tenterden.—What is the use of the scoop?—Your Lordship has
stated it.

You must siate it upon your oath ?—To remove any fragments of stone
that may have been broken off in the operation after the extraction by the
forceps. 7

Mr. Wakley~Were there any fragments in this case ;—No,

Did the operator state in the presence of the patient that he could not
understand the difficulty ? —Yes, he did.

Did you on any former operation ever hear the operator speak of the dif-
ficulties of the case in the presence of his patient }—No.

Did the operator say he could feel the stone with his sound >—Yes,

Did he state he could not feel it with his forceps ?—Yes, he did,

Did you hear the staff strike the stone when in the bladder ;—I did.

Can you explain why the operator could feel the stone with the sound,
and not with the forceps 2—I cannot, unless the narrowness of the opening
would not admit it,

What opening }—The opening in the bladder.

Admit what *—~The forceps,

Lord Tenterden.—~Do you explain it in that way !—That is the only
explanation,

Is this what you mean you cannot explain the reason of feeling the stone
with the sound, and not with the forceps, except by the narrowness of the
opening not admitting the forceps ?—Yes.

Mr. H?ﬂ‘kﬁ"jl'.—]:l‘jd the operator ask Mr. Callaway if he had a long finger?
—No; I did not hear him ask Mr. Callaway.

Did the opexator measure fingers with Mr. Dodd »—He did.
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You have seen it performed several times }—Yes. s

Has the surgeon who performs it always a considerable number of instru-
ments in his case ?—He has always instruments near him,

There are a variety of instruments used for the operation ?—Yes.

How many operations have you seen in your life ?—About half a dozen.

Were you in town in the September following >—No, not this last Sep-
tember,

You have never seen any other operation for lithotomy at Guy's Hospital ?
—1I have seen no other but the one in question at Guy's Hospital.

Whereabout did you stand or sit?—The third or fourth row from the
operator,

In front of him ?—Yes, a litile to his left hand.

How many persons were there do you think ?—I cannot say that; a great
many, a great number.

Two hundred, do you think }—1I should think there were. I understood
you one hundred ; there might be from one to two huudred,

Mr. Callaway was the surgeon who assisted »—He was there.

There are always two? You never saw it performed without two?—No, I
never did see it performed without two,

Is he a competent judge, do you think >—1I should think so.

‘Who handed the instruments to Mr, Cooper i—That I do not know, .

When the first incision was made, are you of opinion the knife did niot reach
the bladder :—Not the first incision.

You think it did not 2—Nao, it did not reach the bladder the first incision.

Consequently the fluid that followed could no part of it be urine. You
had befter correct yourself in that. I am afraid you thought it was urine —
The other question the gentleman put to me when he said the fist incision
1 did not exactly undetstand. ~The first incision was only carried through the
integuments, .

I do not mean the first peuetration of the skin, but'the first time before the
forceps were introduced »—There was a small quantity of fluid.

Was it urine :—1I think most likely it was urine.

Lord Tenterden.—Before the forceps were used >— Yes,

Sir James Scarlett.—Did you see the fluid 3—1I did,

Then you have no doubt it was urine 3—No. -

You have no doubt the knife did reach the bladder *—There is no doubt
of it -

If you had been representing this, you would never have said the knife went
“somewhere;" you would have said it went into the bladder. Come, Mr.
Clapham, as you say the knife went into the bladder, had you been repre-
senting it, how would you have stated it; you would not have stated it went
somewhere t—Ng,

You say you are a licentiate of the Apothecaries' Company }—Yes,

And you are not twenty-one>—No.,

When did you obtain your license >—1In the spring.

Did you represent your age truly *—No.

Speak up, if you please,—No,

You represented it falsely »—It was represented falsely,
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Mr. Wakley.—State what vou saw of the operation.—I saw the staff’ in-
oduced by Mr. Bransby Cooper, and then Mr. Callaway was desired to
‘old the staff on the left side of the patient; and then Mr. Bransby Cooper
nade what is called the external incision, a cut which he did very properly ;

out then, after going on with the second incision, he went, I cannot pretend
o say where he went, being situated by the side, but he was a very long
time doing it; and after finishing, as I considered, the second incision, he
carried his knife forward, and I should say, he held his arm too high; and
then he carried his knife forward, as I should consider, between the bladder
and the rectum, the fundament; then there was a flow of blood followed ;
he then passed his finger into the wound, and then he carried in, on his
finger, a pair of forceps, straight forceps, and he attempted to extract the
stone; he failed in doing so; he then passed the forceps in four times fol-
lowing, and he did not succeed in extracting the stone; and he then passed
in his finger again into the wound, and used great violence in so doing. 1
should say, in withdrawing those forceps, a squashing noise was heard ; he
then called for a crooked pair of forceps, which he passed in upon his finger
into the wound, and poked them about in the wound, in which he used great
violence in =0 doing; he then withdrew them and passed them in a second
time, and he again withdrew them, and he passed them in a fourth time.

FLord Tenterden.—A fourth time >—Yes ; a fourth time.

Lord Tenterden.—Go on.—And then he called for Sir Astley Cooper’s
knife—Sir Astley was mentioned—and he made a cut with this knife, and
passed his finger into the wound again, and used wiolence in passing his
finger ; twisted the finger round several times in the wound, and he then did
not succeed in extracting the stone; and he then began to appear to be very
much confused ; his hand shook a great deal, and he appeared very pale, and
his lips shook very much; and that which I described, 1 should consider
occupied thirty-five minutes; at the expiration of which time T quitted the
theatre. _ -

What was your impression relative to the manuer in which the operation
was performed >—1I thought it was very badly performed ; very badly" per-
fun;ed, very improperly performed.

ave you witnessed many operations for lithotomy :—A
How many ? — At least twenf:. . S Dl

~ How long have they lasted generally ?—I never saw one last longer than
from seven to ten minutes.

How quickly have you seen the operation performed i—In less than g
minute,

Cross-examined by SiR JAMES SCARLETT.

Where do you carry on your business as a surgeon }—At Beam ;
Dorsetshire, : geon ¢ mmat_er._. in

How long have you been there?—Four years: more th i
) an fi
four years and a half. W L

Are you assistant to any person there }—Mr, Phelps.

Has he any connexion with Mr. Wakley p—Yes,

What :—He married Mr, Wakley's sister.
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You are of opinion that the second cut did not reach the bladder —Yes.

Where did it go 7—1I should consider it went between the rectum and the
bladder. '

You say he thrust in the forceps :—Yes.

With considerable and unnecessary force :—Yes, he did. ¥
As if he meant to stab the man ; that was the impression upon your mind ?
—Yes. . :

That he actually meant to stab the man with the blunt forceps; that you
swear ?—DMy impression is, that he forced them in with violence.

That he meant to stab the man *—I will not say stab.

Lord Tenterden.—You have said so.

Sir James Secarlett.—You think it could not get into the bladder unless it
forced itself in }—VYes.

As there was no cut in the bladder }—VYes.

How near did you stand ?—About a dozen feet from him.

Were you upon the rows of benches ?—Yes, the first row of benches for
the pupils.

On the side }—Yes.

I dare say, as you carry on your business at Beaminster, as assistant to Mr.
Phelps, the «“ Lancet” is a work in much esteem there; you see it there } —
Every where.

Are there any rows of seats before the pupils' seats ? —Two rows, and then
the pupils, and I was at the end of the first row for the pupils.

You were in a convenient situation, as soon as your feelings became agi-
tated, to get away *—When I felt annoyed, T went away.

I wonder you did not feel sick ?—I have witnessed too many operations to
feel 'sick or faint. . )

‘The ¢ Lancet” has a great circulation ?—A very great, Sir James.

I am told five or six thousand in a week >—1I do not know ; ‘it may be
twelve.

He derives great profits from it >—1 do not know any thing of that.

Do you report any thing for him ?»—No, T do not.

You are not one of the men of talent he employs :—No,

That is very unfortunate; he will add you to the list very soon. How
many operations bave you performed yourself?>—I -never did perform an
operation for lithotumy. * S

How long did you remain at Guy's Hospital after that time }— About three
months.

You were not there in September :—No, not in September.

Was that the only operation for lithotomy you saw there >—I have seen at
least fifteen there,

Did you-see one in September afterwards there >—I was not there, Sir
Jan];e_sd_ I was not in London in September.
1€ you ever see an operation performed there by Mr.’ '
before }—Not in lithotomy. . Mgy C?DPH
. Nor since :—No,

t % Bir A, Cooper, havin '
' g proved thatno man can be a judge of an operation fi
u;:;: unlusl he has gerformed the same kind of operation himscInI'P?L .-,fcma[.;ittz"-:
gether unnecessary to take further notice of Mr. Gilbert's evidence. i '
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1 do not mean a regular lecture :—No, mot even of counsel. _

Have you had no conversation with Mr. Wakley since you came to town ?
—1I sent my card to say I had arrived, and he called, but he never sat down ;
he did not stay two minutes.

When was that ?—Wednesday morning. 3

Mr. Wakley.—Did 1 submit any written statement to you, or any ques-
tions ? ; . '

Lord Tenterden.—He says no. _ .

Mr. Watley.-——Do you consider that a very ignorant surgeon might acei-.
dentally tie the subclavian artery with success >—Yes, he may. Yes, he may.

Mr. Joun THomas,* sworn.—Exramined by Mr. WARLEY,

Did you witness the operation of lithotomy performed by Mr. Cooper :—
I did. '
Have you read the report of that operation in the ¢ Lancet ¢""—I have not ;
I have not seen the report. I have not read the report in the « Lancet.”
Do you hold any office in Mr. Slee's theatre 7—I am Demonstrator of
Anatomy at Mr. Slee's School in the Borough. ' .
Lord Tenterden.—Is Mr. Slee a surgeon also ?—Yes, j
- Mr. Wakley —Was the operation well performed »—Speaking from my
impression, | think I never saw an operation performed so unscientifically,.
and in such a bungling manner, speaking merely from impression.
Have you ever spoken to me before this day :—I do not even know now
=~ what is your name.,

Cross-cramined by SIR JAMES SCARLETT.

‘You have not the least idea of the name of the author of the  Lancet »"—
I know the name of the author of the * Lancet."

You never saw him before to-day ?—I never saw him at all.

As to reading his works ?—I am in the habit of doing that almost conti-
nually. i

Where is this school of Mr. Slee's? I do not find that it is much known 3
—No. 1, Dean Street, Borough.

What do you mean by a school *—By a School of Anatomy, I mean where
pupils are formed into a class, and receive regular instruction in anatomy and
physiology, and have those as demonstrators who can point out the course
they should proceed in in dissecting human subjects.

What is Mr. Slee >—The senior surgeon at the Western Hospital.

Where is that *—TLudford Street, Seymour Street, Bryanston Square.

How long has it been there —About a year and a half,

Who established it :—Mr, Slee, himself.

He lives in Dean Streel, in the Borough.—No, he lives at 25, Upper
Seymour Street.

= Neit'h_er this witness, nor the following one, Mr. Jeffry Pear], having ever per-
formed this operation, it is unnecessary to pay any attention whatever to their evi-
dence, the whole or the greater part of it being completely contradicted or disproved

;jltlfer.ﬂi:}' the Defendant's other witnesses, or those examined on the part of the
alntit
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That you are sure of >—Yes, perfectly. PR
 But you came after the incision into the bladder }—After the incision into
the bladder.

Just recollect yourself; because, if I am rightly informed, you are mistaken,
and that no scalpel was used after the incision into the bladder »—I know no-
thing about the incision info the bladder; when it was first made I was not
there, but I saw the scalpel used at a subsequent part when I was there,

By scalpel you do not mean Sir Astley Cooper's knife?—I do not know
exactly.

Do you know what is called Sir Astley Cooper’s knife ?—No, I do not.

What instrument did you see used >—The seal pel.

What besides >—Forceps, several kinds of forceps,

How many kinds ?—I do not know how many kinds,

It must have made an impression upon you; were there more than two
kinds ?—1I apprehend there were,

What other instruments besides >—1I saw the sound infroduced.,

What else?—Nothing more, to the best of my knowledge; I recollect no
other instriment.

Any gorget !—No, I do not recollect seeing any gorget.

Neither blunt nor eutting >—No.

Theonly cutting instrument you saw used was the scalpel 7—Yes,

But Sir Astley Cooper’s knife you do not know »—No.

You have never heard of it before >—Yes I have, and seen a description of
it; but I have not a recollection of it.

Did you ever perform an operation *—No.

How long have you been demonstrator ?— Since the 1st of October.

What were you at the time you saw this operation ?—1I was a pupil of
Mr. Green's, at St. Thomas's Hospital.

Did you ever attend any other operation at Guy's Hospital ’—Yes, I have
seen Mr. Key operate for lithotomy.

Have you seen Mr, Cooper operate at any other time?—No.,

You are sure of that ;:—Yes, quite sure.

Re-cxamined by Mr. Waktry.
You were speaking of a conversation you had with some pupils, will you
repeat the remainder ?

Lord Tenterden.—No, he only states that that was the means by which
you became acquainted with it.

Sir James Scarlett.—1 stopped him.

Lord Tenterden.—It will not be evidence further than to explain the
means by which you became acquainted with him,

Mr. Wakley.—1 have no more questions to ask him,

Mr. Jerrry PEARL, sworit.—Ezramined by Mr. WAKLEY.

Did you witness the operation of lithotomy performed at Guy's Hospital,
noticed in No. 239 of the « Lancet '—Yes, I did witness it,
Performed by Mr, Branshy Cooper >—VYes,

Is there any thing materially incorrect in that report »
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Was either of those twenty performed in a similar manner to this >—Not

one, certainly, 3 .
What time did they occupy on an average :—I should conceive they did

not average more than five minutes.

Did you see any operation that lasted a longer period ?—I have seen one
by Mr. Green that lasted a considerable time,

How long did that operation occupy ?—I should suppose nearly an hour.

Were there any difficulties to account for that protracted operation ?¥—Yes;
there were decided difficulties.

What were they >—The man had been twice operated upon before, and
there was a considerable cicatrice to cut through, which was hard and un-
yielding ; and there were two immense large stones extracted, which crumbled
into an innumerable number of small pieces,

Where did they crumble into innumerable small pieces ?—1In the bladder,
I believe. They were extracted from the bladder when the forceps were with-
drawn.

Was the time occupied in removing the fragments '—It was.

Was there any force employed in removing those stones >—None whatever.
- Was Mr. Green's manner of using the forceps and scoop similar to that of
M. Bransby Cooper:—Noj; it was decidedly contrary.

What was the size of the stone in Mr. Cooper's case t=It was a small
stone.

A very small stone was it —It was a small stone,

What sized stone ?—It was not larger than a Windsor bean.

Did Mr. Cooper state during the operation, and in the presence of the pa-
tient, that he could not explain the difficulty ?—Yes ; he turned round to the
pupils and said, I can conceive no earthly reason why I cannot extract the
stone.” 0
Did Mr. Cooper say he could feel the stone

8ir James Scarlett.—You have been admonished an hundred times, do
not put the words into his mouth.

Mr. Wakley.—Did he say any thing about feeling the stone >—He did,
and you might hear the stone; he said, * hush ! hush! you can hear the
stone, but I cannot extract it when I apply the forceps, what is the reason I
cannot conceive,"

Can you explain why he could feel it with the sound, and not with the
forceps ?—I cannot explain the reason; if he had introduced the forceps in a
scientific manner, I should think he might.

Will the forceps pass through an opening as small as that through which
the sound passes —No; the forceps will not pass through an opening that
the sound would.

Did Mr. Cooper appear to be in a state of self-possession during the ope-
ration ?—No ; he did not appear 1o be in a state of self-possession,

Did it appear that he used the instruments without having any rational ob- -
ject in view ?>—It did appear to me that he used his instruments without
having any rational object,

I
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Have you seen Mr. Bransby Cooper perform many operations i—I have
seen him perform several.

How does he operate generally *—I should not conceive him to be a good
operator by any means, B,

How long have you been a pupil at Guy's Hospital :—More than a year.

Are you a member of the College of Surgeons :—I am not a member.

Do you intend going inte the college }—Yes.

Must you produce a certificate from Mr. Bransby Cooper when you apply
there >—1I must produce the certificate of a surgeon of Guy's Hospital.

Lord Tenterden.—Are there more than one }—T hree,

Cross-examined by SIR JAMES SCARLETT.

How long have you been attending the hospital }—A year.

Was that your first commencement?—My first commencement was Octo-
ber, 1827,
~ Where were you educated before that 3—At Woodbridge, under an army
ElUrgeon.

You were apprentice to himn ?— Yes,

Did you ever perform the operation of lithotomy yourself t—No; I never
did.

This operation was performed in March, 1828 —Yes,

Do you continue now at the hospital }—I do.

Have you seen all the operations performed there —I have missed but few
of them, [ helieve.

You read the “Lancet" regularly, no doubt >—Yes,

Do you makeany reposts to it :—No.

And never did }—No.

Did you see an operation performed by M. Cooper, in September —I
was not in town last September,

Did you ever see any other operation performed by him in lithotomy 3—
I am not exactly aware whether I ever did see him operate again,

You have made up your mind that he was not a skilful operator }—1T never
saw him perform but one operation that I thought skilful,

What was that }—Tying the subclavian artery.

That is an operation that a man of ordinary skill may perform —I should
conceive it to be a difficult aperation.

Do you agree with the witness examined to-day, a regular surgeon, prac-
tising at Beaminster, that a man may accidentally do it with success without
any skill at all )—I believe a man, in the constant habit of seeing anatomy,
may do it without any skill,

You agree with the Beaminster gentleman that the doing that does not im-
Ply any skill »—T say it may be occasionally performed.

If you were, for example, called upon to do it, or had occasion for the
operation to be performed upon yourself, you would not consider it of jm.
portance what surgeon you applied to }—VYes, I should consider it to be.of
nnportance.

ne
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You say you saw the parts afterwards }—Yes. ]

Who dissected the body ?—I went in to hear the lecture of Dr. Hodgkin,
who generally conducts the post smorfem examination, and Mr. Key had the
parts in his hands,

Did you not hear who it was }—Dr. Hodgkin, I believe.

It was his duty ?—Yes, he generally conducts the examinations.

Have you been altending any lectures of Mr. Wakley 2>—No, I have not.

Have you ever been at his house *—I called at his house one morning, but

I had not a lecture.
Was that the only time you called ?—Never but once, and that was last

Monday. :

Did iuu know him before ?—I did not know him till he had asked me my
opinion of the operation.

Who introduced him to you that he might ask you that question ?~It was
very well known. '

Who introduced him to you?—A gentleman of the name of Lambert in-
troduced me.

Where did he introduce you?—TI first saw Mr, Wakley at Mr, Lambert’s
house.

How often have you seen him there :—Not above once.

Did you make any stay there *—He merely asked me—

How long did you stay there >—Perhaps an hour or more.

I suppose the conversation turned on this subject :—1It did.

Mr. Lambert was present }—He was.

Mr. Lambert of course agreed with you in opinion —Yes,

Upon your oath did you not know from that conversation in M. Wakley's
presence, that Lambert was the person that sent the report >—I did not know
from that conversation that Lambert was the person; I did not know he was'
the reporter of that operation,

Not from that conversation ?—No, nor any other canversation.

Did not Mr. Wakley mention the name of his contributor at the hospital ?
—Mr. Lambert was there. :

Did not Mr. Wakley mention the name of his contributor from the hos-
pital : Task you upon your cath, again, if the whole tone of the conversation
did not assume that Lambert was the reporter ?—No, not that would con-
vince me in my mind.

You might not believe them, or either of them, that is quite another thing;
—upon your oath, do you mean to say that nothing passed upon that subject
that induced you to suspect that he was the reporter >—I am not going to
state whether I suspected him or not, but not from that conversation : cer.
tainly not, ]

What made you suspect it >—Becausé he was generally suspected ; no other
reason,

Why should he be generally suspected >—That I am not at all aware of,

Do you know him intimately »—Not intimately, I do not,

Have you been often at his house ?—Not very often ; I have not been often
at his house,
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No plate or diagram *—No.

You afterwards went to his house }—I merely called there one morning ; it
was last Monday. _ ' beil

Did you go alone *—I did.

Did you find any body there }—Yes, Mr. Wakley himself. .

Any body besides :—No.

How long did you stay '—A very little while.

That is no answer.—! did not stay more than ten minutes.

Was there any conversation on the scientific part of the subject ?—No: it
was when the trial was coming on, and 1 heard he was going to plead his own
cause.

Upon your solemn oath do you believe that the forceps did pass between
the bladder and the rectum *—1I do not conceive myself competent to pass that
opinion. Imerely come here to state facts, and not opinions.

You have given your opinion on Mr. Cooper’s skill, give me your opinion
upon that, did the forceps pass between the bladder and rectum, from seeing the
paris afterwards, and tlie operation at the time )—I saw the forceps violently
opened.

That is no answer at all,—I did not form an opinion, whether it passed be.
tween the rectum and the bladder, or whether they passed into the bladder.

You are coming to give an opinion upon the skill of the operator, and are
not able to give an opinion upon that subject >—I can state, that the ope-
ration was not scientifically performed.

You have stated, that Mr. Wakley and Mr. Lambert gave very good rea-
sons to make a man belicve that the forceps had pasaed between the bladder
and the rectum, you do not appear to have believed it, but you are unwilling
to say you believe the contrary.—I am not unwilling to state that I believe
the forceps did pass between the rectum and the bladder at one time, and did
afterwards go into the bladder.

- Their reasons have satisfied you?—Not their reasons.

You cap form an opinion withiont their reasons ?—Yes.

At what time do you think it so passed »—I should think at the first in-
cision.

You know that men of science, as well as yourself, saw these parts after
death—I ask you, did they exhibit the appearance of the forceps having
passed between the rectum and the bladder >—I saw Mr: Lambert pass his
hand between the rectum and the bladder, '

Did younot hear Dr. Hodgkin say, « friend, thou hast done it thyself »"—
I heard Dr. Hodgkin say, he did not like persons coming there to spoil the
preparations who had no connexion with the hospital.

Did you not see Mr. Lambert put his hand between the bladder and the
rectum >—I saw him take it up to Dr. Hodgkin, and say,  sir, here is an
opening between the bladder and the rectum.”

And did you not hear Dr. Hodgkin say, * friend, thou hast done it thy-
self #"—I did not hear that, but I heard what I stated before, that he did not
like persons meddling with preparations. S \ '
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What said T to you ?—You asked me to read the report over again, that I
might be satisfied of the truth of it, or whether I could find anything in it
untrue,

Did I endeavour to persuade you to give any evidence here of any descrip-
tion ?—No, you did not.

Did I use any persuasion to alter your belief upon any part of the circum-
stances you had seen ?—You did not.

Did you come here with the intention of saying one word respecting this
operation, but the truth ?

Lord Tenterden.—We must presume that you cannot ask that question,
whether he meant to come to perjure himself.

Mr. Wakiey.—Did Lambert use any persuasion !—No; I endeavoured to
get off being a witness, :

Did I examine you as I have done here to-day '—No, you did not.

Did you state to me more than merely that the report was correct ?—No, I
did not.

Mr. JaMEs LAMBERT,* sworn.—Eramined by Mr. WAKLEY.

You witnessed this operation of lithotomy at Guy’s Hospital, in March, in
this year }—1I did.

Did you furnish me with the report of that operation ?—1I did.

Is this the report you furnished to me, which is published in the ¢ Lancet" ?
—It is substantially the same,

Did you assure me, upon your honour——

Lord Tenterden.—Ask him what he did say ?

Mr. Wakley.—What did you say to me :—1I stated to you, upon my word
and honour, it was true. In fact, that it was rather an under-statement than
an over-statement.

What do you say now, as regards that report >—1I say that report is true.

Are you aware of any material circumstance in this report being incorrect ?
—I am not aware of it being necessary to state this one way or another; but
I have since been informed, that instead of Mr. Callaway holding the stone
up in the forceps, he held it in his hand.

How long did the operation last > —It lasted more than an hour,

You have inserted an hour in your report }—Yes,

Lord Tenterden.—What was stated in the written paper, must be proved
by the written paper.

ﬂfrhg’aﬂcy.—lt was destroyed.  Did the patient appear a healthy man ?
—He did.
h'Was he altogether a favourable subject for that operation 3—I considered

im so.

Will you describe the operation, as far as you can recollect it }—The

operation was, as 1 believe, nearly indeed, it was in every respect what is

* This witness, being the avowed writer of the libel, and being, as it may be as-
sumed from his evidence, actuated by feelings of personal hostility towards Mr.
,ﬂvDD]IEf, his testimony will of course be received with great jealousy and suspicion by
the reader, and it is not thought necessary to comment on particular parts of it.
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In the hearing of the patient ?—Yes. _

Did the operator say any thing to Mr. Dodd :—He asked Mr, Dodd if he
had got a long finger. X

Did the operator say any thing respecting touching the stone with the
sound ?—He said he could feel the stone when he passed the sound through
the wound in the perinzum: but he could not feel it with the forceps.

Did the patient make any complaint *—The patient repeatedly begged to be
released.

Was the stone extracted at last ?—Yes, it was.

When seized with the forceps at last, did it come out without difficulty or
with difficulty —It came out without any extraordinary difficulties, only
those difficulties that are usual in passing the stonethrough the wound,

Was it a large or a small stone :—A moderate size.

Did you see the parts afterwards ?—I saw and examined the parts after they
were removed from the body.

Will you state what you saw, and who was present at the time?—When I
went into the demonstrating-room several pupils followed me. I saw the
body of the patient lying on the floor.

Lord Tenterden —You saw the dissection t—No, I did not see the dis-
section, I looked at the perinseum.

Mpr. Wakley,—Was the body then disseeted :—The morbid parts had been
removed ; the bladder and the prostate bad been removed from the body.

Before you went in?—Yes, 1 then asked to see the morbid parts, and
they were shewn to me, 1 attentively examined them in the presence of
several pupils. My attention was, of course, principally directed to the exa-
mination as to any difficulties, or any morbid appearance that might have
given rise to any difficulties in the operation. I found the prostate gland
itself slightly larger than a natural one—slightly larger than ordinary. I
found on the left side of the gland a small oblique cut; the parts appeared to
be what we call ecchymose; they seemed to have been bruised a good deal
and darkened the cellular membrane.

What parts #—The neck of the bladder and the gland. Oun the under sur-
face of the neck of the bladder, or I should say on the floor of the neck of
the bladder, there was a very singular appearance; there was a little projec-
tion about the size of the tip of my little finger; this I took to be, as Dr.
Hodgkin described it, an enlargement of what is called the third lobe of the
prostate gland. Icontinued my examination, and I found, on turning over
the preparation and passing my finger on the under part of the bladder, that
my finger passed up with the greatest facility between the bladder and the
rectum,

Let me entreat your attention {o this point. I ask you upon your solemn
oath, did you make use of the slightest force in passing your finger up he-
tween the bladder and the rectum ?—Upon my oath I did not.

Did you break down any structure in passing your finger up :—I did not.

Do you swear most positively that you left the parts in the state you found
them in?—I must be allowed to explain here: I was going on with my exa-
mination when Dr. Hodgkin, the demonstrator or curator to the Museum,
came to me very angrily, and pointed this out to the pupils, my finger heing
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Did you discover any thing from the post morfem examination to account
for the delay in the operation —I did not.

Was the cutting gorget introduced *—Yes.

In what position was the instrument held when it was introduced >—It was
held, as regards its blade, nearly horizontally. 1

Did you see in the neck of the bladder and the prostate gland an incision
similar to the form of the gorget ?—I did not.

If the gorget did not pass into the bladder where was it likely to pass when
it was introduced ?—Between the bladder and the rectum ; I have seen it re-
peatedly pass there,

By whom have you seen it repeatedly passed between the bladder and the
rectum ?—I do not know whether I have a right to say that, as it conveys a
censure upon the operator,

Lord Tenterden.—In operations of this kind have you seen it 2—Yes,

Mr. Walkley.—Have you ever seen the gorget passed between the bladder
and the rectum by a skilful operator #—No, never.

Or by a person having any pretensioas to skill 7—No, eertainly not.

Was the gorget used subsequent to the knife 2—Subsequent to the use of
both knives.

How many times had the two knives been infroduced '—I do not recollect
their having been introduced more than twice.

Do you mean twice each, or once each >—Once each.

How many times was the cuiting gorget introduced ?—I cannot speak to
it being introduced more than once.

Was the blunt gorget used 2—It was.

Did you ever see the operation performed in a similar manner to thisi—

- Never. g

Did the operator appear in a state of seli-possession *—Certainly not.

Do you believe the patient could recover after such an operation —No.

Have you seen Mr. Cooper operate upon other occasions *—I have.

Is he a good operator ¥—1I should say not.

Ijla'm you seen him perform any operations in what you would call a su.
perior manner?’—Yes; I saw him, on one occasion, tie up the subeclavian
artery very quickly and well.

Is that an operation difficult to a man who has any nerve }—Certainly not.

Do you consider that Mr. Bransby Cooper’s surgical abilities are adequate
to the duties of surgeon of Guy's Hospital 2—Certainly not.

‘Cross-examined by SIR JAMES SCARLETT,
Are you a surgeon ?—Yes,
mHuw long have you been so ?—I have been in the profession about thirteen
years,
&GHn n:l.::m’l:ntt yu-.; c;nsider yourself much more competent than Mr. Cooper,
you not!—l do consider myself more competent than Mr, B
Cooper, certainly. = i

ider i Hﬂ."jr iilﬁompﬂent do You not ¥—I hav :
1 1 1 1“‘ E H-I
[ mnalder hlm lncnmpetem_ . I"E-B.ﬂ.jl' md
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When did you first begin to contribute, when the work was first set up —
No.

How soon afterwards i—I cannot say exactly.

Was it a mionth, or six weeks, or a year 3—I think it must have been esta-
blished two or three years. )

The work has been as celebrated for its severity, I do not say unjustly, as
for being a clever work ?>—It is said 1o be so.

There is a good deal of pointed satire, and personal attack in it 3—No per-
sonal attack. - ' ; -

No attack upon anybody by name, that is what you mean?—Not by name
—public functionaries.

When it attacks a public functionary, it is personal.

Lord Tenterden—~1 want to know what is meant by a public functionary ?

Sir James Scarlett.—A watchman is a public functionary. These attacks
upon public functionaries give it a good circulation >—It has a good circula-
tion.

Do you not believe that that is the cause of its circulation ?—1I cannot say
that ; it is a work of science.

Do you not believe that persons are gratified with a little personal attack,
if they are not the subjects of it I cannot say that.

You have not expericnced enough of the world to say that 7—No.

Is it a work very profitable to Mr. Wakley >—I presume it is.

Five or £6,000a year?—1I cannot say.

He maintains a handsome establishment ;—Ves,

Does he practise as a Surgeon :—Occasionally.

Hisincome is derived from this work »—His principal income.

Now allend to my question. Did Mr. Cooper ever threaten to turn you
out of a room once ?—I do not remember his threatening to do it.

I'will give you a little time to recolléct. Did he never threaten to turn
you out of a room ?—Yes, I remember an occasion at Guy's dinner, upon
which Mr. Bransby Cooper addressed me angrily. 1 cannot say, whether he
said he would do that or not, there wasa great deal of noise.

My question is general, did he fneveér threaten ‘to turn you out of a room,
I do not mention time or place?—There was some angry altercation ensued
between us once.

What was it about }—It occurred at a public dinier,

What was it about>—1 ohjected to a toast being drank, and that was con-
sidered olit of order ; and Mr. Cooper camie fromm his chair with several others,
and some angry language ensued, and I left the raom., -

You were not turned out 2—No,

_What did you leave the room for }—Because I saw there was a strong feel-
ing against the measure T had adopted.

When was this >—1I cannot say the time, it is two years ago.

You have mentioned that circumstance, and I will now come to another.
Had you never any difference with M. Cooper before that; before you

answer it, I will give you time to recolléct it i=I do fot rémeinber any quarrel
with Mr. Cooper.
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Was not it at the last anniversary *—No, it was not; it is two years ago.

Is not January the month in which the anniversary:is held ?—Sometime
about Christmas.

Perhaps you were not at the last’—I have never been but at that one.

There you went away, but you were not turned out. You carried this
report to your friend, Mr. Wakley ; was this one of the weekly contributions,
or one of the excesses?—One of the weekly contributions.

This fell within the eight guineas a month ?—Yes,

Is it true that the report was rather more severe in your manuscript than in
this publication }—There were one or two expressions which I consider were
rather more severe.

More severe than he thought it quite right to publish 7—Yes,

Did you indemnify him ; you assured him they were {rue and were jus-
tified ?—VYes.

Was the report much longer as you made it in manuscript than in its
present form *—No.

Ishould like to know wlat the expressions were, we may as well have the
whole of a good thing ; what were the expressions he left out*—The prin-
cipal alteration. was as to the time I stated ; it was rather more than an hour 3
and Mr. Wakley said, *T would rather be under the mark.”

What was the other'—I do not recollect any thing else.

Was it simply an alteration in the time ; I thought you said just now there
Were some expressions more severe *—It was an observation as to the time ;
there was some ohservation coupled with the length of time.

The time we may not think so material; but were there no other observa-
tions of a severe nature '—I do not recollect any.

When did you last see the manuscript '—I have not seen it since the time
it was printed. :

Did you read the next attack upon Mr, Cooper in the following number }—
I did not.

Nor any part of it :—No,

If T understand you right, you give as a reason for doubting at least whe-
ther the knife had reached the bladder, the first time that you saw no gush
of urine >—Yes.

You think that a very fair n for judgi i
o Fladdacives, ¥ 1air reaso Judging that the knife had not reached

Did you see any gush of urine afterwards *—No.

As a man of &klr". you say it did reach the bladder finally, and yet you
saw 10 gush of urine at all; explain to me that inconsistency >—1I can only
explain that the impression upon my mind is, that the knife was carried
onwards, and as I did not see the gush of urine, my impression was, that the
knife had not entered the bladder,

Thﬂrfﬁ-‘fl'e whenever the knife had entered the bladder there would be a
gush of urine.  When did you see the gush of urine *—I did not see any gush
of urine, ¥ gus

How did it get out 3—There might b i
which the urj,ne o0zed, Igi el 51’“&" “PEUWE‘ mﬂdﬁ, fhrl:l-ugh
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Do you know what happened to Mr. Clapham, the licentiate of the Apo-
thecaries' Company '—1I know Mr. Clapham. ;

Do you know him as a licentiate >—He has passed his examination.

Is he a relation of your's ?—Yes,

What 7—A cousin.

Did you assist him in procurin g his licence 2—No.

Are you sure about that?—Yes, *

Did you know when he was about it?—No, his passing surprised me. He
came and told me, one morning, he bad passed. I did not know he was
preparing.

You knew he was not of age ?—1I did not know that.

How many bets have you laid upon the issue of this cause 7—Not one.

You swear that #—Yes,

Have you offered any :—I have spoke of if, but I have never offered any
thing of the kind seriously.

Have you ever offered any bets upon the issue of this cause *—I never made
any bets. 1 may have said that the odds were =0 and s0, and so and so, but
I never made any bets,

Do you mean that you have said so '—Yes,

You have said so *—VYes,

You knew what the odds were '—I knew that we had a great number of
good witnesses.

There were bets’—No,

You thought that we therefore would win, as we had a great number of
witnesses —1 thought the cause would go for us.

How much did you say the odds were? Ishould like to know »—I really
do not recollect,

It is not many days siuce, surely, is it >—I do not recollect,

You will not say how much you said it was, two or three to one *—I cannot
say I made use of the remark ; [ may have done so,

Lord Tenterden.—You said you had said so.

Sir James Searlett,—You said you had ; now you come back to mays and
maights. Did youornot? have you or not said the odds were in favour of your
winning the canse, meaning you and your friends ’—I cannot distinetly swear
about it 3 I think I have.

Have you an y doubt that you have *—Yes; I have some doubt whether [
have.

As you freated the cause something like a horse that was to win the race,
you took great pains to train it and get it up *—I have taken pains to collect
evidence,

You have examined a great many '—I have examined several,

X Have you had them at your house }—Two or three have called af my
ouse,

Only two or three :—I do not remember that more than three of the wit.
nesses have called at my house ;

* See the evidence of Mr, Watson, the secretary of the Apothecary's Company, who
afterwards produced a certificate of the moral character of Mr. Clapham, ag required
by the Company, and which certificate was given by Mr. James Lambert.

E 2
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room who were to be witnesses, was not that with a view to their evidence,
you are asked i—It was knowing they would give evidence in the cause.

* Sir James Scarlett.—Was not it with a view to their evidence in the cause
to assist them in their scientific knowledge *—1It was with a view of refreshing
my own memory.

Was not it with a view of giving them more knowledge *—No; I did not
go down for that purpose.

But you explained it, knowing they would give evidence ?

Lord Tenterden.—Was not it done with a view to their evidence, that is
the question, and you must answer it yes or no?—I certainly give trouble,
but as I understand the question——

Sir James Scarlett.—Were not your observations and explanations with
a view to their evidence in the cause ?—I cannot admit it was with a view to
their evidence, 1 can say no; I have already said I went down to the theatre
for the purpose of examining the parts myself, and in the course of examining
them, ] have explained to different pupils that have been about the different
paris.

That were to be witnesses>—Some of them were about on both sides.

I give you warning, that all did not believe in your science, and therefore
have a care what you say—did not you explain to them the particular inci-
dents of this operation, knowing they were to he witnesses in the cause }—I
explained to the pupils generally the parts.

Did you not know they were to be witnesses in the cause ?—I did, some of
them, certainly.

Did you go to learn yourself any thing to give evidence ;—I went with a
view of refreshing my own memory.

Was Mr. Wakley present >—T met him there on two occasions.

Was he present on any occasion when you were making these exhibi-
tions }—No.

Do you mean to swear that?—I do not recollect whether, when he was
there, there was a perinmeum dissected,

Was he never there when you were explaining lo the witnesses the opera-
tion in question *—1I do not think he was.

Did you ever hear him explaining it >—Yes.

To the persons who were to be witnesses }—To the pupils generally.

Why do you give me that answer—were they persons he knew were to be
witnesses }—The persons present were to be witnesses,

Was it your expression, or did you hear him say that Mr. Cooper murdered
the man, as much as if he had cut his throat with a knife—mark the expres-
sion ?—I do not remember the words.

Will you swear they were not used »—I cannot swear one way or another,

Could they have escaped you ?—1I do not recollect them,

Lord Tenterden.—Were they used is the question—this is fencing in a
way most unbecoming—you do not answer any one question directly }—I
will swear [ did not hear him sAY 50,

Sir James Scarlett.—Or any words to that effect 7—Yes.

.f':ﬁﬂ you swear you did not use words to that effect >—1T cannot sweap I
i not. ]
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you afterwards qualified it; what was it Dr. Hodgkin said instead of those
precise words :—1I think, in a subsequent conversation with him, and I have
conversed with him a good deal about. the appearance of the parts, he said,
he should say there was nothing remarkable about the perineum; I think
those were his words.

He did not use the words *“it was not a deep perinzzum "—He had said
that previously.

Lord Tenterden.—I have both phrases down.

Sir Fames Scarlett—Did you furnish that happy epigram about Sir
Astley Cooper and his nevey, that came out in a subsequent number }—No.

That is not one of your stipendiary contributions }—No.

That isa piece of Mr. Wakley's own wit—I do not know whose it is,

Re-examined by Mr. WAKLEY.

1 am sorry you should display any hesitation ; there is nothing in Sir James
Scarlett's manner to annoy you; there is nothing to conceal either here or
any where else.

Sir James Scarlett.—There is one question I forgot; did you attend the
operations afterwards in lithotomy in Guy's Hospital ;—No.

Have you never seen one since there }—No,

Have you been allowed to attend 7—No.

Lord Tenterden.—You were refused *—Yes.

Sir James Scarlet!.—Were you ever turned out of any other hospital :—
I left the Middlesex Hospital.

Were not you turned out *—VYes,

How long ago ¥—Four years ago.

And St. Thomas's also >—I am not allowed to go to St. Thomas's in con-
sequence of this report.

Before this report :—No, not before,

3 Mr. Wakley.—Were you the apothecary at the Middlesex Hospital >—
es.

Were complaints made against you that you were the Reporter to the
« Lancet” for that hospital >—Yes,

Was any other charge made against you than that you were Reporter to
the « Lancet?"—No other charge.

Were you ejected from that institution on the ground solely that you had
sent communications to the ¢ Lancet ™—Yes.

I will ask you, upon your oath, did you ever send a single report from that
hospital before you were ejected from it :—No,

Or afterwards :—No. )

Was the accusation false entirely *—It was,
~ When you spoke of the odds respecting this cause, what did you mean by
it’—I meant, that, in consequence of our having what I conceive to be a
good deal of good evidence, that the chances might be in our favour,
~ When you spoke of the odds, did you know of a single bet made respect-
ing this cause >—Certainly not,

Have you heard me offer any bet i==No.
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manner, or the usual manner of other persons ?»—It was the first time I ever
saw Mr. Cooper operate for lithotomy.

How many times have you seen the operation for lithotomy performed ?—

I do not know.

Can you guess, can you form any opinion of the number }—From fifty to
one hundred.

How long have they generally lasted »—Five or ten minutes, or a quarter
of an hour; it is impossible to say the average.

Have you ever seen one last a quarter of an hour }—Yes.

What were the circumstances in that case that produced the delay >—The
difficulty of extracting the stone.

From what cause ?—1I do not know ; there might have been a contractmn
of the bladder on the introduction uf the forceps into the bladder; that
might contract it, and that might have been the cause.

Does not the bladder always contract when the urine escapes, or does it
remain in a state of relaxation ?—I should think it does.

Does what ?—Does contract.

Are you aware of the circumstances that produced the delay in this case?
—1I afm not.

There were no circumstances >—No.

Did you see the whole of the operation *—I saw the whole of the opera-
tion ; I did not examine the stone,

You saw it extracted ?—Yes.

Were the different instruments introduced that are mentioned in the report
in the ¢ Lancet >"—Yes, 1 think they were,

Was the operator cool and collected during the perﬁ:rrmance of the opera-
tion?—I could not see any material difference ; I was not at the operating
table, 1 was at soine distance.

Did the operator carry the knife and staff towards the bladder ?—Not in
the first instance,

What did he do #—The first incision was made in the usual manner; but
perhaps the incision into the bladder was not sufficiently large.

Would the opening made into the bladder the first time the knife was in-
troduced, admit the passage of the forceps ?—That is a matter of opinion ;
and at the distance I was from the operator I could not say.

Were the forceps introduced into the bladder at the first attempt?—I am
not sure,

Did the operator, after attempting to introduce the forceps, re-introduce his
knife and make another incision ?—Yes,

Had he at that time laid hold of the stone with the forceps 2—1I think not.

In point of fact, before he had made the second incision with the knife,
was the staff re-introduced }—1I will not undertake to say the staff was re-in-
troduced before he made the second incision ; T am not prepared to say.

Did Mr. Cooper use the cutting gorget »—Yes, at the latter part of the
operation.

Did youupon any other operation of lithotomy you have ever witnessed,
see the gorget introduced after the knife had been applied three times ;
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can you do so >—There are some expressions that 1 did not hear made use of
by the operator, that are reported in the «* Lancet.”

How near were youto the operator '—Not so far as I am from you.

He might have used the expressions mentioned, without your hearing
them i —He might.

Will you point out a single fact or statement in the report that is inaceu-
rate, as far as your observation goes?—If I was to go over the report, I might
point out some statements that do not appear to me to be correct.

Will you take it if you please and go over it? (handing the *Lancet™
containing the report, to the witness), when did you read it last'—A few
days ago.

- Sir James Scarlett.—I will not object to what is passing now; but this
is a most summary mode of proceeding. ;

Lord Tenterden.—There never was such a proceeding ; he ought to come
prepared to give his opinion.

My, Wakiey.—I will ask him another question., Did you state before
you came nto court

Lord Tenterden.—You cannot ask that question; he is upon his oath, and
called by you; if you were cross-examining him you might ask it.

Mr. Wakley.—Was it a large or small stone >~—A small stone.

Did you see the preparation, and the post morfem examination ?—No.

Did you see the parts after they were removed from the body *—I did not.

Do you know of any circumstances that would render the operation diffi-
cult *—None.

Cross-examined by SIR JAMES SCARLETT,

I'understood you to say you had been five years practising as a surgeon ;
are you a member of the College of Surgeons ?—I am not.

Were you bred as a surgeon *—Yes.

Have you been in any other occupation >—Yes.

What other occupation have you followed ?—I have been a clerk.

And a merchant ?—Yes,

Was that before you began to practise as a surgeon *—No.

During the time >~No, it was between the time after I served part of my
apprenticeship,

Did you ever deal in any particular article ?—Yes,

What was the nature of the merchandise > Potatoes »—VYes.

You were a potatoe merchant. I do not mean it as any reflection upon
you, I assure you,—how long ago was it ? you have given your evidence much
better than a pupil.—Ten or twelve years ago.

You say you have seen from 50 to a 100 cases of lithotomy ?—Yes.

Have you performed any yourself ?—On the dead subject 1 have.

L desire to ask you this question, and have the goodness to attend to me.
When an operation is in hand, is there any body that can possibly explain
so well the difficulties that occur as the operator himself >—None.

May it not often happen that what appears ambiguous or doubtful to a

bystander, if the operator was asked, he might be able to explain satisfac-
torily *~Certainly. :
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Sir James Scarlett—Did you at any time afierwards see any flow of
urine *—I1 am not sure.

You did not examine the stone yourself?—No.

You admit that you eannot form any judginent of the difﬁcul'f:f, although
you saw it a difficult case > might form an opinion of it, butit must be a

r of opinion only.
mstiemelimg does nutyit occur that the stone is folded in the folds of the
bladder 7—1It is the bladder contracts on the approach of the instrument.

Are you aware whether, where you have reason to suppose that is the case,
that the letting the instrument remain a little time in the bladder is advan-
tageous’—Yes ; because the spasmodic action of the hladdgr ceases.

- You say you have not seen many operations petiormed in this country !—
I have seen many here; but more in Paris.

Re-examined by Mr. WAKLEY.

You have stated the operator himself must be the best judge of the dif-
ficulties of the case’—Yes, ;

Do you think he could have much knowledge of those difficulties when
he stated in the presence of the patient, bound upon the table, that he could
not explain those difficulties ?—1I think the operator in such a case nm?d an
explanation to the class, as it was a tedious operation ; he owed it to himself
and the class, to make some explanation of the unusual difficulties.

Had there been any unusual difficulties, do you think a skilful operator
would have failed to discover them >—It is possible he might.

Sir James Scarlett.—But he must be the best judge *—Certainly.

Mr, THomas Bovrton,* sworn.—Ezamined by Mr. WAELEY.

Did you witness the operation of lithotomy, reported in 239 of the
¢ Lancet?'—Yes, [ did.

Is that report correcti—Generally correct.

Did the operation last nearly an hour }—Yes.

How long did it last>—It might be an hour, or a little more or a little less;
I cannot speak to a few minutes.

Were there many instruments employed —There were.

Did you ever see so inany instruments employed in any operation of litho-
tomy —Never.

Did the operator appear to be in a state of self-possession *—He did not
appear to be so at first; he regained his self-possession afterwards in some
degree; he appeared to me so.

How many times were the knives introduced *—Twice.

Did he use the cutting and blunt gorgets?—VYes.

Both }—Yes.

When was the cutting gorget introduced }—Before the blunt gorget.

After or before the knives *—After the knives.

* This gentleman, at the time of the operation, was a pupil of six months standing ;
his progress, therefore, in the science must have been very rapid, or his opinions could
not have been very edifying to the Jury.
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myself, nor the governors individually. They judge from representations.
They have opportunities of judging from the proceedings of every day.
Mr. Bransby Cooper and his cotemporaries were constantly before them.

Who were his cotemporaries at that time *—Out of two or three hundred
pupils it is impossible for me to tell who those people are, 1 could tell you
who were the candidates for the situation. There were several persons who
were attending at that period at the hospital. Mr. Brewer, Mr. Callaway,
Mr. Key, Mr. South, Mr. Tyrrell, Mr. Morgan, and Mr. Cox. They were
all fellow-apprentices.

Lord Tenterden.—Were they all candidates *—No.,

Lord Tenterden.—I1 thought you said they were candidates?—No, They
were fellow-pupils and apprentices.

Mpr. Wakley.—Is there a bye-law in your institution which renders it im-
perative that you should elect the surgeons of the hospital from the appren-
tices?—No, none whatever. We should be quite at liberty to go elsewhere if
we stood in need, and had not sufficient talent in our own hospital,

Has any person been elected to the office of surgeon in Guy's Hospital
during the period you have held the office of treasurer, who was not an
apprentice to the hospital:—No, there have been so few till the very recent
appointments: Sir Astley Cooper was the only instance of any one in my
time, and his pretensions were as well known to us as Mr. Bransby Cooper's
were under the same circumstances; and just under the same circumstances,
Sir Astley Cooper had been under our eye, and so had Mr. Bransby Cooper.

Lord Tenterden.—Sir Astley Cooper was the only one you have in your
recollection >—No, there was Mr. Key and Mr, Morgan,

Mr. Wakley.—When was Mr. Key elected »

Lord Tenterden.—I do not see the effect of all this.

In September, 1821 ; it was deemed expedient by the governors to appoint
an assistant surgeon, and ageneral court was held the 19th of September, 1821,
for the election of an assistant surgeon, that was to take place on the 26th of
the same month ; on the 26th of that month, Messrs. Brewer, Callaway, Key,
South, and Morgan, presented a petition, and Mr. Key was unanimously
elected.

Is Mr. Key the nephew of Sir Astley Cooper *—Yes, he married his niece.

Is Mr. Morgan one of the surgeons of the hospital ?—Yes,

Whose apprentice was he?’—An apprentice of Sir Astley Cooper's, I
believe.

Was Mr. Key an apprentice of Sir Astley Cooper ?—Yes, I believe so.

Whose apprentice was Mr. Callaway ?—He was apprenticed to Mr. White,

Was Mr, Callaway the senior of Mr. Bransby Cooper *—Yes, he was.

Had you a consulting surgeon at Guy's Hospital before the 4th of May,
1825 »—No, we had not.

Haf.? you any assistant surgeon at that time?’—We had an assistant surgeon,
as I said before, on the 26th of September, 1821, when Mr, Key was elected ;
it was_ihnug_ht quite unnecessary then to have any assistant surgeon, and he
was discontinued : but it was necessary when we had Mr. Forster, who was
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Lord Tenterden.—You are not bound to draw comparisons, it is the most
invidious thing, suppose they are both of equal skill. .

Mpr. Wakley—Do you believe they are of equal skill, gs surgeons‘?—l
only say that that man was particularly calculated for the person we required ;
he was the person I meant to give my support to upon thatoccasion, and the
governors generally did the same. 1did not find myself called upon to in-
validate the professional talent of one, because I elect the other. 3

Is there an anatomical school mentioned in the will of Guy }—No.

Nor in the act ?—No, nor any aliusion to it whatever.

When was the last act passed ?—It was incorporated under the will of Guy,
and no subsequent incorporation has taken place. ¢

A medical school is not contemplated >—No, nothing is mentioned of it
at that time of day. :

Was Mr. Bransby Cooper elected chiefly for conducting the medical school,
or as surgeon to the hospital :—He was elected by the governors to fill the
vacancy that then occurred; but really as to the motives of the governors, I do
not know that they are called upon to state them.

Were the medical schools of 8t. Thomas and Guy's one, before 18257 —
Is it necessary we should go into such a field of enquiry as that?

Were they one >—Am I to go into that explanation, it will be a very long
one; there was a medical school at Guy's, and a surgical school at St.
Thomas’s, and the pupils, entered at one, had the advantage of attending at
the other, and so they have at the present moment.

What led to the suppression of them ¢

Lord Tenterden.—No, you cannot ask that.

Mr. Wakley.—Do you believe it is the best way to obtain surgeons of
ability, by selecting them from your apprentices?—I can only answer that
by the result, we elected Sir Astley Cooper from the apprentices without any
advertisement, and the result told us our plan was right, and we are not likely
to deviate from it. )

Was Guy's Hospital celebrated for skilful surgeons before 1823 }—TUpon
my word I cannot say, it has always had its celebrity; I can only say that
we have been particularly fortunate in having men of great integrity, and
great experience in their profession, generally speaking.

Before Mr. Bransby Cooper was elected to the office of surgeon, did you
ever see him operate ?—1 never saw anybody operate on any occasion.

From whom did you receive your evidence of his skill >—It was acknow-
ledged by the acclamation of the house, by every day's experience, and from
the communication with those immediately around, by his having during his
apprenticeship officiated as a dresser in the house, and under the inspection
of the governors more immediately than under my own inspection,

Do the governors attend frequently in the wards of the hospital *—No, the
establishment is not of that nature to require the attendance of the governors
in the wards. T attend very frequently in the wards, it is not my duty to go
there, there are stewards and proper persons appointed ; it is not the duty of
the governors to attend in the wards, except on stated occasiqus to see that
things are right.
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upon my mentioning the circumstance to Sir Astley Cooper, he made a com-
munication to me, in which he told me—— ‘

As there is his written testimony, the gentleman who wishes to prove his
case may have it if he thinks fit. Was it directly or indirectly by any corrupt
influence of Sir Astley Cooper, that his nephew was appointed to the situa-
tion ?—Sir Astley Cooper had nothing to do with the arrangement of the
matter whatever, he never interfered in any regulations of the hospital.

Did he suggest the arrangement, or his nephew *—No, neither of them.

Did you happen to know, that besides Mr. Bransby Cooper’s practice at
your hospital, that he had been at the Norwich Hospital, and also serving in
the campaigns in Spain under the Duke of Wellington as an army surgeon,

attached to the artillery }—I did.
And that he afterwards went with his regiment to Canada ?—Yes, and [

believe he had spent some intermediate time in improving himself in. Edin-
burgh ? :

He was first a pupil at the Norwich Hospital for two years:—I do not re-
collect the time, but the circumstances are in my recollection.

Did he not come to Guy’s Hospital before he went to Spain, for about a
year and a half>—He entered there, and went to Spain, and I understand

_commenced his apprenticeship after his return from Spain.

_How long he had been pupil before he went to Spain you do not know ?—
No: I suppose he was there some years before he entered upon his apprentice-
ship. .

After his return from Spain did he not go to Canada, while the little Ame-
rican war was winding up ?—Yes, so I understood.

When he returned from thence, did he not go to Edinburgh, and remain
there nearly two years #—1I understand he filled some chair there as President of
the Medical Society ; he held some distinguished situation among the pupils.

And then he came finally, and became apprenticed to his uncle *—Yes,

You know, that in order to be admitted a surgeon at the College of
Surgeons, a person must have served an apprenticeship *—VYes.

I hardly need ask you whether Sir Astley Cooper is a surgeoh of the first
eminence among the first and most eminent men in practice in this metro-
polis, and has been so for many years?—Yes,

Do you know whether his nephew resided with him, and had an opportu-
nity of witnessing his practice during that time?—I always understood he re-
sided with him.

Do you happen to know that the Norwich Hospital is particularly cele-
brated for operations in lithotomy ?—I have always understood so0.

When Mr. Bransby Cooper commenced his lectures in your hospital at
Guy's, was not the school very numerously attended :—The school has been
very well attended.

Has he [rmt maintained that reputation throughout which induced you
to choose him *—Perfectly.

Re-examined by Mr. WAKLEY.
Are you cerfain, that before a person ean be admilted a member of the
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Lord Tenterden.—1 cannot enquire into his belief.

Sir James Scarlett.—He may know it, and believe it too. :

Lord Tenterden—Do you know whether those notices were transmitted
by Mr. Wakley to the newspapers *—No, 1 do not.

Tord Tenterden.—He cannot know it.

Sir James Scarlett.—May it please your Lordship; Gentlemen of Fhl.‘:
Jur_r,,r._The time is at length arrived when the Plaintiff is entitled, according
to the forms of proceeding in this place, to lay before you the grounds on
which he secks redress for one of the most injurious attacks upon his fame
and his fortune that ever appeared in a court of justice, invented by falsehood
and by malice.

Hitherto he has been put upon his defence, though he is the party that
ﬂﬂmpiaifﬁ. and ﬂmugh he asks redress at your hands. Such is the fate of
human affairs, that during an entire day he has been placed upon his defence
as if he had been indicted upon a criminal charge; and up to this hour you
have no reason, that I am aware of, to know of what it is he complains,
unless perchance you have read it published in the evening papers of yester-
day, with a curious exactitude, furnished no doubt by the good-nature of the
Defendant or his Attorney, giving to that proceeding, of which the Plaintiff
complains, the widest possible circulation, without any antidote, without any
explanation on his part, to protect him from the consequences, and striking
still deeper into his bosom the injury he has hitherto received.

Gentlemen, look at the state of the proceedings of this day and yesterday.
I will venture to say, that they furnish to every reasonable man grounds for
grave and serious reflection. It is not my business to complain of the forms
of law, or of the practice in courts of justice. I submit, as every subject
does, to the rule by which we are all bound. But in a particular case I may
be at liberty to suggest how unfortunate it is for an individual, who is
attacked by a gross, and scandalous, and malicious libel, to have all the zeal,
all the interest of the public excited, to hear an accusation against him; and
when that interest has subsided, to be put upon making his charge, For I
have no doubt youall feel that you are now sitting in judgment, not upon what
reparation shall be made to an injured man for one of the basest and most ma-
lignant calumnies that any man can complain of, but whether Mr. Cooper is
not a person unworthy of his station, who has contributed to shorten the life
of a man placed under his care, and who wants that skill, and wants that
knowledge of his profession which no man has hitherto dared to question or
to doubt, who had either skill or competent knowledge himself,

Gentlemen, I have some reason to complain of the fate which has attended
my Client; that, when he seeks refuge and protection in the sanctuary of
justice, he meets again upon the threshold the sword of the assassin, That
before he has had time to utter a ery to invoke the sacred aid of the law, or
the sympathy of his fellow-creatures, the weapon is plunged deeper and
deeper into his side ; he is tortured, lacerated, dissected ; and now you come
with mmdls no doubt the better prepared, to hear what it is he complains of,
and what it is you are called upon to enquire into.

Gentlemen, T am no enemy to the periodical press, far from it, though I
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his day, and educated in the same school.—Mr. Cooper became bound ap-
prentice to his uncle in 1817, and during the period of his apprenticeship
his assiduity was unremitting. I have a right to say so, from the evidence of
that excellent and honourable man, Mr. Harrison, examined by the Defendant
yesterday, and intended to be insulted by him ; who states, that the universal
theme of praise, by all the persons in the hospital, was Mr. Cooper's assiduity
and intelligence. ~Sir Astley Cooper made him his demonstrator in anato-
my ; Sir Astley Cooper, who gave most distinguished lectures at that period,
found in his nephew an able and effective assistant.—He appointed him to
that situation, which led him to obtain a more intimate knowledge of the
most abstruse parts of his profession, and fitted him, in the course of time,
when experience had given him advantages, which without experience no
man possesses, to become, by and by, an example of the same eminence, the
same fame, and the same success in fortune, that his honourable relation had
exhibited, He did more than that: Sir Astley Cooper, whose practice has
probably been more extensive for a number of years together, than that of
any other surgeon in the world, called in by persons of every rank in life, to
perform the most difficult and scientific operations, and who never, as those-
who know him, well know, allowed the call of the poor to go unregarded;
who bestowed as much from humanity as he did from any regard {o hisown
profits, upon the wanis and wishes of his fellow creatures—Sir Astley
Cooper being in a state of constant daily and nightly requisition, was obliged
to have, what every eminent surgeon must have, who has any thing like the
same practice—a person he could rely upon, in a case of emergency, when
he himself was called to attend a patient, whom he could not quit, in order
that his other patients might not go unattended. He found in his relation a
person most fitted to assist him; having received instruction in his own school,
and assisted and witnessed him in his practice, he was able to discharge the
most important duties, when Sir Astley himself, from the impossibility of
being in two or three places at the same time, was forced to employ an
assistant.

Gentlemen, do not suppose such an employment can be theresult of favour
—a surgeon who employs an assistant in cases of that sort, for his own
honour, and for his own interest, is obliged to employ a competent man; he
cannof do otherwise, Consider for a moment, in what a situation Sir Astley
Cooper would have been placed, if, on your sending to him for a difficult
operation, and finding him otherwise engaged, at a moment when you had
not time to wait, he had sent you, as his substitute, a person that he himself
thought incompetent, or that you found to be soj; Sir Astley would have
been ruined in his own practice, as well as in his honour and reputation. I
have, therefore, a right to say, that not by his education only, but by that
best testimony, which Sir Astley Cooper bore to his nephew’s fitness and ca-
pacity, that fitness and capacity were established beyond all doubt or ques-
tion, upon the most solid and substantial ground.

Gentlemen, his apprenticeship expired in 1823. He had had at that
time considerable experience, and great practice. He became admitted a
surgeon upon his own account, still continuing however to render assistance
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the very reverse; you will recollect Mr, Harrison'’s testimony, on which
at present I say nothing, for my time is not yet come to comment upon the
Defendant's evidence. ~

Gentlemen, 1 have stated the history of Mr. Bransby Cooper ; I have
stated to you the progress he has made to that eminence in Guy’s Hospital,
which he now holds, which has made him the object, no doubt, of envy
and jealousy to some, but o none of that highly honourable and useful pro-
fession who stand at the top of it; they disregard all pitiful sentiments of
competition and rivalry ; they bave come forward—they have crowded
in this Court to bear their testimony to the skill of their competitor, and
to endeavour to save him from that ruin into which the malice of this man,
and the enmity of another, have attempted to plunge him.

Gentlemen, it is time now you should hear who the Defendant is; be-
cause when a Plaintiff seeks redress for a libel, it is fitting you should know
the parties; upon that T shall be very short. I should not have known, but
from the exhibitions of yesterday, of the Defendant’s extreme ignorance in
the art he once professed; but I am entitled to say, from the surprise he ex-
hibited at the expressions of some of his witnesses yesterday, that he never
witnessed an instance of the operation being performed, and is as ignorant
upon that subject as he is of the rules of good taste, or the principles of
social order, as exhibited in his writings.

Gentlemen, he is known to the publie, for aught I know, erclusively
by having established a periodical work called the ¢ Lancet;” he tells you
himself he established that work for the purpose of reporting the lectures
given at the hospitals; avowing at once that he has established the work for
the purpose of committing plunder upon the property of other men, as well as
exposing their reputations according to his own discretion, as to the use he
chose to make of reporting their lectures. But are we to hear it tolerated in
a court of justice, that if Mr. Cline or Sir Astley Cooper, or any other emi-
nent surgeon, should compile a eourse of lectures with great care and much
labour, and much scientific application, and should deliver that course of
lectures to the pupils of his own class at the hospital, who pay him for their
attendance, and remunerate him for those labours, that a periodical paper
shall rob him of all these advantages, and without his leave or licence make
them public to the world, soas to give fo every person in the kingdom who
desires to study these things, all the advantages which the lecturer thought
he had acquired for himself? That he shall establish himself by reperting
the lectures of other men in a periodical work, upon which he shall get ten
times as much as is gained by the lecturer, and make it useless to him to print
them? And if any one can be found so base and so ungentleman-like, as
to make use of the privilege he obtains, by paying a trifling sum to attend
the lecture, for the purpose of making it public, he becomes a contributor
to the « Lancet,” he swells the revenues of the Defendant, and gives him his
five or six thousand a-year, and adds to his reputation, such as it is, as a
popular writer. Thisis what the gentleman has avowed himself. He has
avowed that the ¢ Lancet” is a work founded upon the principles of rob-
bery and plunder, and that he obtains contributions from pupils at the
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subpeenaed by aceident; and so be would have induced me to think, if I L":i
not afterwards observed, in the course of yesterday, that the Defendant hac
the benefit of that gentleman’s science and assistance to instruct him n his
case, and restrain him probably when he was about to exhibit his own igno-
rance. Certainly, for new acquaintance, they have improved upon each
other very rapidly, for they sat together immediately after the ewdencel of
Partridge, and held a friendly sort of intercourse and scientific communica-
tion. No doubt the acquaintance will be improved further, and wl?atever
praise or advantage may be derived to Mr. Partridge from the celebrations l::_rf
the * Lancet,” he will have them to a certainty. But allow me to take this
opportunity of telling you of the infinite danger to which lhehhﬂnnur of any
profession must be exposed by the existence of such a publication. The mo-
ment a critical work of this sort, that mixes a great deal of personal ribaldry
with affected reports of cases, the moment such a work gets into popularity,
the writer finds, from the very use of that sort of vulgar ribaldry, by some
people called wit, that makes this work the more acceptable to persons whose
tastes are not very refined, that he has in his own hands the fortune and repu-
tation of persons who are members of that profession. That is what he grasps
at, and that is what, in some degree, he possesses. Every man who contri-
butes to the work is celebrated in it, and every man who despises it is abused ;
so that, if that work becomes the criterion of fame or fortune, no eminence,
however great, no skill, however perfect, will hereafter entitle a man to the
-praise of the publie, or the successful progress of his fortune. No! He will
be cut up by the ¢ Lancet,” the contributors to the ** Lancet,” the Lam-
berts, and the Lees, and the Partridges; and the young pupils will be cele-
brated and lifted up in the places of the Coopers, the Brodies, and the Greens,
whom especial care is taken not to praise unless they commit the impudence,
never to be redeemed, of sending a communication to the * Lancet.”
Gentlemen, there is a certain sentiment of honour that belongs to a liberal
profession, something better felt than explained ; the man who does not feel jt
will not be sensible of the argument I addressto you. In the ordinary traffic
of life, called commerce, where men live by the profits of exchange and burter,
or buying and selling, there isa course of plain dealing and simple integrity,
that marks the line between honesty and the want of it, which EVEry man can
understand ; but in the practice of a liberal profession thereis a certain feeling
of honour that becomes the gentleman, and which the gentleman only can
feel, that distinguishes it, that elevates it, that prevents it from becoming sor-
did, and gives it the true character that really belongs to such a profession, n
certain dignity, a certain pride, which makes a man feel that the profit is a
secondary object fo him; that fame and reputation, and the means of utility
are his true reward, in comparison with which every thing else is secondary,
and to be disregarded. If once the press acquires a power either in the pro.-
fession of the law, or the profession equally honourable and useful
more useful, the medical profession, that principle is debased,
destroyed. If a man finds that his fame depends upon co
editor of the ¢ Lanecet,” if he findsit de
that he must court the author to acquire

» perhaps
that principle is
neessions to the
pends upon his useful contributions
that fame that before was obtained
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The next operation is to introduce his finger. If he can get his finger
into the bladder, and then can touch the stone by -good luck, which
sometimes happens, if the stone be in the natural place at the bottom,
where it would fall by its gravity, the work is finished immediately : he has
only to ntroduce the forceps along his finger; or he withdraws his finger
and inseris the forceps, puts it down upon the stone he has iﬂuched_. and
draws it out. In the same way if he can touch the stone with the sound,
he can introduce the forceps, for there is something to guide it, But it hap-
pens in many cases that where the patient is an adult, a man of a certain size,
the perineeum, the fleshy and sinewy parts, are too deep to admit the finger
to pass both through that and through the prostate gland, in order to reach
the cut made in the bladder. In those cases the operation is somewhat more
uncertain ; because, as you work in the dark at all times, you are here de-
prived of the opportunity of touch by the finger; you can only touch by the
instrument, you cannot be absolutely cerlain, unless you can‘get your finger
into the bladder, whether the cut is wide enough for all purposes that may
be necessary ; there is some little uncertainty about it. However, it is suffi-
cient to direct the operator, if he can get his finger in the prostate gland ; the
prostate gland is a gristly substance, harder than the finger ; so that the finger
can ascertain it, and the prostate gland operates as a fulernm, upon which the
forceps turns ; the operator introduces the forceps, taking the finger as a guide,
introducing it gently, as you will find Mr. Cooper did ; so that though he
cannot touch the bladder by his finger he can ascertain whether there is any
resistance made to the forceps. 1f no resistance is made, the forceps enters the
bladder; the forceps is like a pair of scissars, not so clumsy as that pro-
duced yesterday; at least at Guy's Hospital it is not. It opens in the
bladder without enlarging the wound made by the incision, and therefore
without any injury to the patient. If the surgeon cannot find the stone
where the force of gravity will carry it, what is the conclusion? The con-
clusion is, that the stone is probably, as is often the case, enfolded in some
portions of the bladder, either placed there originally, or by accident,
and contracted and grasped probably with increasing force, by the introduc--
tion of the instrument. He is obliged to pause upon that for a moment—he
feels a little time is necessary to allow.-the bladder to relax, that he may try
again whether the stone may be loosened from its hold ; if he finds it is not,
he must conclude that the stone is in some unusual situation he has not been
able to reach with the forceps. What is he to do? He has not been able to
ascerfain the length of the wound by his finger—his finger has not reached it
—he then must make another incision, because perhaps the wound is not large
enough to enable the forceps to have a sufficient range, because as the prostate
gland operates as a fulerum, if the fulerum be too high, and the passage too
close, it cannot allow the forceps to range about sufficiently : that isa case
where a second incision may be necessary—he works in the dark, heis obliged
from his own feeling and judgment at the moment to proceed. :

Now, Gentlemen, comes an instrument which one of the learned and sci-
entific persons who contributes for Mr. Wakley, had never heard of, which
he, Wakley, humourously and wittily calls i my uncle's knife,” That learn-
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us, the public, the relatives of the unfortunate patient, and Mr. Harrison, the
governor of Guy's Hospital." :

Gentlemen, this is the indictment you have been trying all yesterday, for
Mr. Cooper is in the same situation, as if this gentleman had obtained leave of
the court to file a criminal information against him, for his malpractices at
Guy's Hospital. Now, I shall trouble you with one more effusion of his wit,
an epigram, which Mr. Lambert swore he did not write. First, I should say,
that in a former number, it is reported, that a man who came to be operated
upon in Guy's Hospital, in consequence of recent occurrences absconded.,
‘That lays the foundation for the epigram.

“ EPIGRAM
On the patient who suddenly decamped from Guy's Hospital.
When Cooper's nevey cut for stone,
His toils were long and heavy;
His patient quicker parts has shewn,
He'soon cut Cooper's nevey.”

That is just a little witty effusion, in order to keep the wound open. The
man who puts on a blister knows very well, that in order to make it more
operative, he must, after he takes the blister away, apply a little irritating
dressing to keep the serum for a considerable time flowing. It may be of
service to keep the patient in a state of irritation.

Now, Gentlemen, I have stated what I complain of. Thave stated the proof
I shall give. 1 shall prove the operation to have been performed well by this
very person that the Defendant’s witnesses admit to be the next best judge
to the operator, by Mr, Callaway. I shall prove the falsehood of this state-
ment of the post mortem examination. I shall prove to you that it could
not but have originated in slander and in malice. We charge this against
him upon the record. We bring him into Court, and he meets us thus.
First, he repeats the whole in terms in his pleas, I did publish it, and it is
all true. Next he selects the sum and substance of the charges, and says, I do
affirm, that Mr. Cooper performed the operation in an unskilful manner ; that
he is not a skilful operator, nor a fit man for his situation in Guy’s Hospital.
His last defence is this, one of the most extraordinary I ever knew. He says,
he 1s the editor of a paper called the Lancet, in which he publishes the re-
ports of cases that occur at the public hospitals, What he means by ¢ the
public hospitals" I know not—a hospital is not a place for public contribu-
bution or admission, such persons are admitted only, as the governors please ;
they never shut the door against those who go for science, but I hope they
will always exclude those who go for calumny. He says, the reporters
brought him this report of this case, and the critical remarks upon the case ;
and that he, believing the report to be true, and the remarks to be candid nna.'i
fair, and knowing nothing to the contrary, as his duty bound him, published
it accordingly, and that he is ready to prove it. So that you see what a state
we are reduced to. If the gentleman who edits the Lancet gets from the
gentleman at eight guineas a month, a paper, however false, he will think it
his duty to publish it, and justify himself, no matter what effect it produces,

H
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avows that he will be the destroyer of Mr. Cooper—you have him going to
the hand that feeds him, that gives him eight guineas a month, a pittance for
dirty work, that a surgeon of respectability would not receive for any work,
from any public writer, and telling him, upon his honour, such as it is, that
the report is true. Even Mr. Wakley, the holder of the Lancet, even he
thinks it is too bad to publish the whole of the reporter’s spleen.~ He leaves
out, in his moderation, some part of it. Before all this, Lambert had put his
finger into the parts, when the back of the dissector, was turned; and he
represents his pretended discovery in such a way, that unless he is ignorant
to a degree hardly supposeable, he is guilty of another distinct and wicked
fabrication, for destroying the reputation of Mr. Cooper. In the whole
course of my professional experience I never knew a case, where the malice of
the libeller was so distinctly proved. 3

Gentlemen, Mr. Wakley is tlie person to answer for all this to-day. He is
the man that profits by the publication ; he has avowed Lambert, as only the
instrument that communicated it to him; he has thrown his shield over him,
and means to protect the man that panders to his own appetite, for calumny
and slander, and he must pay for the consequences. Do not suppose, that
the argument he threw out, that he should have great regret if his reporter had
deceived him, is an argument for mitigation of damages. If a man has done
his best from the very first to the last moment, not only to destroy your fame,
but to ruin your family, and blight all your prospects in life; and then, in a
court of justice, whilst pointing the sword at your bosom, and aiming it at
your vitals, should say, if T have been deceived by my reporler, I should much
regret it. Do not let it be supposed, that such a declaration can exeuse him
from the consequences. No, Sir, you are bound up in common cause with
your reporter. You must fall with your reporter. If he is malicious, base,
false, and infamous, you are atleast as much so, or more, because you were not
actuated by that resentment, which might be some, but very faint palliation,.
for a man wounded in his feelings; but you, without provocation or passion,
are making a deliberate traffic of slander, to get your three or four thousand a
year. You have notin law, you have not in morals or in reason, the slightest
apology for your conduct. Yours was the base, cruel, venal act, of attacking
aman, who had never offended you, and attempting to destroy his peace, and
ruin his family, for no other advantage of your own, than puttin g the profits
in your pocket. The more popular the man, the more likely to have exten.
sive connexions, the more public his character, the better for you. The news-
papers are the precursors of your calumny. Some body has taken the pains to
advertise, not to medical men alone, that they will find something in the
pages of the Lancet, too shocking for ordinary publication ; but the pupils,
it seems, had published a letter, feeling the indignation natural to generous
minds, at falsehood, and at the abuse made by somebody who has introduced
himself among them to witness the operation, and defame the operator,

Then what happens? Mr. Lambert is not upon the stage now, Mr
Wakley publishes the next libel himself; he takes the sole merit of it.' To
I'EP’-"_“ his dramatic metaphor, the first act by Lambert, was of a tragedy so
horrible, as to affect the feelings an e;u_ary man ; the second is by Wakley,
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: : : “ is
operation rEqm:-ed the very summit of n:lEdltﬂl tj’::;tneiut iﬁﬁ; ;.t.li?::lu-
nothing at all;" and Mr. Wakley says, it may Al Gos e
tomy isa thing that can only be done by a man of great skill ; but tying up
the subclavian artery! an ostler at an inn might do that. : ot

Then we come to Mr. John Thomas ;* and his evidence is exceedingly
neat. He is the demonstrator at a school set up on the first of October last,
at No. 1, Dean-street, in the Borough, by Mr, Sleigh, who has also setupa
private hospital in Seymour-street, Portman-square. I do not mean to say it
is not a better school than Guy’s; but it has not produced any great aur-l
geons, yet. No Astley Coopers nor Clines we have yet had from this riva
echool. ¢ What is your opinion of the operation ?” 1 had been in Guy's &
few months ; 1 saw the operation; I give no details ; my impression 1%, ﬂ‘f“'
it was done in an unskilful and bungling manner.” As Mr. ‘Hifakiey did
not press for details, I ventured to ask the gentleman what connexion he had
with the * Lancet.” He is one of the gentlemen that contributes to the
¢ Lancet.” He has made it four commmnications, and one so late as Dcml::jer
last. 1 only say I put it to you, whether a contributor to the Lfmeel“ 15,
upon this occasion, the very best person you would rely upon, for judgment,
or skill, or veracity either. ¢ Well, what happened ? T arrived subsequent
to the incision into the bladder.—Did you; how long did you stay !
Till the stone was extracted ; half an hour 1 staid ; I saw nothing but the
scalpel used.—Did you not see Sit Astley Cooper's knife? I never heard
of it.” He is a demonstrator who never heard of an instrument used at one
of the greatest hospitals by one of the greatest surgeons of the age.~ “1never
heard of it, nor heard it called for—he used nothing but the scalpel."—¢ No
gorget:" ¢ No."—¢« Neither blunt nor sharp »" ¢ No,"—* Neither #* « T cau-
nottell the details; it was a bungling operation ; my impression isso.” Sothat
without knowing the detail of all the facts, and mistaking those he pretends
to a recollection of, he says—¢* my impression is all I can give you"—they
are the impressions of a man of profound science ; they are of great value ;
and their authority is enforced by his communications to the editor of the
Lancet. :

The next witness is Mr. Pearl, whom they reckon an invaluable jewel of
awitness, What says Mr. Pearl ¢ He gives us a new fact that the editor did
not give us; he says, he put three fingers into the wound, and turned them
round; if he did that, it must have been with the intention of murdering the
man. He could bave no design but murder, and if you believe that gentle-
man, I desire you to conviet him, and my Lord will send him to be hanged
undoubtedly. That is Mr. Pearl's evidence; he says also, ¢ 1 think the
report is correct, all but ¢ Sir Astley’s knife;' he did not say ¢ my uncle's
knife;'" but we have my uncle’sknife put into the index and advertisement,
that is done by way of facetiousness, ¢ I cannot conceive why he should
not feel the stone with the forceps, if introduced in a scientific manner. T
saw a gorget introduced with the staff;” that happens to be entirely false, it

* This witness began his career with a tinman, at Kingston-on-Thames, for the

purpose of learning that trade ; therefore much weight cannot be given to the  jm-
pressions'’ of this person.
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fall back from asserting as true, upon his oath, those falsehoods he has com-
municated in the libel, will he have any hopes to return to Mr, Wakley ?
will Mr. Wakley spread his protection over him? will he praise him in the
next pumber of the Lancet? will not he cast him off ¢ Such is the man -
brought before you, upon whose testimony you are called upon to rely.

Lastly, Gentlemen, comes in the doctor of science, Alexander Lee; and, as
he was asked his opinion upon the skill of a professional gentleman, 1 was
induced to put a question to him, which I did put upon his occupation.
From the candour of the man's answer, and the fairness of what he said, I am
not disposed to disparage him at all. That he is a regular surgeon is out of
the question ; for it is hardly possible that a man who is a surgeon, and then
a potato-dealer, can become a surgeon again, without forgetting much of his
craft. But I will take it that he was at least as competent a judge, and saw
as much of the operation, as those before called. Observe the manner in
which the Defendant introduced him, ¢ Youareafriend of Mr. Cooper's? 1
am not intimately acquainted with him.—Are you not acquainted with him ?
I never spoke to him in my life.” It seems that Mr. Wakley thought it not
right to let the case rest upon pupils, or upon the author of the libel ; and this

_gentleman is called for the chance of what he:may say. I haveit out of his
own mouth, He first said the operation was performed in the usual manner.
« Was it along operation ? Yes, it was; it was a difficult operation.—Can you
account for the difficulties? No, the operator is the best person to judge of
these.—Have you known operations so long ? I cannol say I have; they are
generally from fen minutes o a quarter of an hour: but operations may be
difficult, and occupy a longer time.—Was there any thing that struck you?
No, there wasnot.” Upon which L asked him whether, as a professional man,
he conceived it was competent to a man to give an opinion upon the subject
without consulting the operator; and he said, certainly not; that ambiguous
circumstances could only beexplained by the operator: and hesaid that which,
put in a very few words, what I hardly expected to get from a witness for the
Defendant, That it was most rash and most presumptuous in a pupil to come
and give an opinion upon the scientific skill of an operator without asking his
teacher for an explavation. Buthesays, the teacher owed an explanation to his
pupils; and how does he know he has not given it? He lectures every day
almost; I believe he is not bound to give his explanation at the moment.
He said there were difficulties; and I believe I can shew you a case where Mr.
Cline was an hour and a half in the operation : and, after he had extracted the
stone, said, ¢ Gentlemen, there is not one of you who could not as well tell the
difficulties of this case as myself.” There are secrets in nature which the phi-
losophy of no man can explain. John Hunter was an hour and a halt io an
operation, and the man died; and there were two stones found in his bladder
unextracted, But no man dared to question his skill. No doubt, the Lancet
would; because the Lancet dares every thing.

Gentlemen, I come last to Mr. Harrison’s testimony, a full and direet refu-
tation of the charges in the latter libel, which attempts to shew that Mr. Cooper :
was placed in his situation by corrupt influence, and not by reason of any
merit of his own; and that the governors of the hospital, as well as Sir Astley
Cooper, are liable to the charge of corrupt infuence. He has had the auda-
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younger man, who has seen Mr. Cooper not 0 frequently as !Jr. Eabiﬂg‘tﬁn :
1 call him not asthe friend of Mr. Cooper—not as a person having any private
intercourse with him—a distinguished professional man, who is acquainted
with all the secrets of anatomy. I speak of Dr. Roget, a nephew of an “;1“5"
trious and never enough to be lamented friend of mine, Sir Samuel Romilly,
who, in early life, had made anatomy the subject of his study, and delivered
distinguished lectures in physiology. 1 shall venture to ask him, being per-
suaded that, as far as he has known him, he must have formed a high opinion
of Mr. Cooper’s skill. :

Gentlemen, when the case is elosed, Mr. Wakley will have the singular ad-
vantage in the case of libel, perfectly new, of replying upon the whole evi-
dence. Your verdict must be for the Plaintiff. If I were o sit down without
calling a witness, your verdict must be for the Plaintiff. And when you have
heard the evidence on both sides, and his reply, the question will be what da-
mage you shall give—that is a grave consideration, aud allow me for a few
moments to occupy your attention upon it. 1 am happy to see in that place,
gentlemen of your education and station in life. Tt is not that I disparage
the ordinary tribunals by which causes are decided. No man can respect
them more than I do; but there is a certain class of causes, in which it re-
quires the feelings of honour, and the feelings of highly-educated gentlemen,
to enter into the sufferings of a man situated like this Plaintiff; and though
these feclings exist in all classes of life in well-regulated minds, we know that
they are most certainly to be found amongst gentlemen uninfluenced by sordid
views or vulgar motives; that persons of your rank furnish the surest mate-
rials for bringing into a jury-box that species of feeling applicable to such a
case as this. [ will beg you to consider this. Every man in England is at
liberty to publish what he pleases, God forbid that that liberty should be
abridged ; but that liberty would be a source of the most bitter tyranny that
ever an unhappy country laboured under, unless in those instances in which a
man is abused by a libeller, some constitutional tribunal existed for correction
and reparation ; that tribunal you are—you will please to recollect how much
in modern times the circulation of the press has enlarged the sphere of the re-
putation of individuals for good and for evil. Consicler, that toa feeling and
honourable mind, fame and honour are of greater price than fortune. Con-
sider, if you please, that, when these are affected, in proportion to the extent
of the calumny, in proportior. to the circulation that the press obtains, unless
{here be some reparation to the feelings of an injured man, unless society fur-
nish the means of redress and compensation, to what course is the man driven
who writhes under calumnies for which he can have no redress:—Lord Bacon
says, that ¢ revenge is a kind of wild justice;" the same Being that made us
reasonable, made us also resentful ; and if a man’s resentment, bottomed upon
the generous feelings which induce him to look at his fame, as his brightest
possession, if that resentment is justly kindled, and he finds in the tribunals
of his country no means of having it appeased by some public vindication, by
some verdict that shall stamp the opinion of honourable men of the conduct
of which he complains, to what course is a man driven in this civilized society
of gurs? Who can blame him, if his revenge assumes the form of justice itself,
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malicious libel, an offence only because the law prohibitsit; one of those
mala prohibita, which you could at the instant expiate by a small penalty
like the getting over your neighbour's hedge, and shooting his partridge. But
there are surely distinctions in the offences of men, and in the injuries in-
flicted by them. I beg to ask any honourable man amongst you, what would'
he take to have hisskill, his honour, and his humanity, assailed in the way that
Mr. Cooper's have been ? what would he take for it? mora than that, if he be
a man with a rising family looking up to him for support and maintenance,
what would he take to have all their hopes put to hazard, all their prospects
in life blasted by the breath of the slanderer ? and how would be feel, if dis-
missed in a court of justice, by, being told the jury thought him intitled to a
verdict, but that they thought moderate damages sufficient to mark the con-
duet of the man who had injured him. Ishall leave Mr. Cooper in your
hands; I shall call the witnesses; I am sorry [ have detained you so long,
but feeling it was the case of an individual in whose hands I would willingly
place my own life, from my confidence in his skill, I have felt it my duty
to him, and to the public, to make the statement I have made, and to appeal
to those feelings which I know you possess.

Gentlemen, I have just been favoured with a piece of evidence I ought to
open to you. You remember the evidence of Mr. Clapham, whose infamy
ought to be exposed ; 1 have a right to give this in evidence: Mr. Clapham
swore he did not take any oath respecting his age; here is the certificate,
and here is his cath ; I will prove it to you. Mr. Lambert swore he knew
nothing of Mr. Clapham getting his licence or certificate; here is Mr. Lam-
bert's certificate of his moral character—the certificate of moral character he
produced was by Mr. Lambert ; he may have forged that certificate, too, I
cannot call Mr. Lambert back to ask him that. It lies, however, and here it
lies between them.

EVIDENCE FOR THE PLAINTIFF.

A paper was handed in.

The following passage was read from No. 242 of the Lancet, published
on the 19th of April, 1828 :—
¢ EPIGRAM
On the patient who suddenly decamped from Guy's Hospital*
When Cooper’s nevey cut for stone,
His toils were long and heavy ;
His patient quicker parts has shewn,
He soon cut Cooper's nevey.”
Sir James Searlett.—Now refer backso that number.
The following passage was read from No. 241 of the Lancet, p, 49.—
“ There has been no operation performed at this Hospital during the Eut
fortnight : notice was given of an operation last Tuesday week, but the pa-

* See the Lancet of last week, page 49,






Thomas Callaway, Esq. 111

I would generally ask you whether any person can 50 well judge of the
difficulties of the operation as the person actually performing ?>—No one can
form an adequate opinion of the difficulties of the operation but the upemtf:-r.

Next to the operator himself do you {hink that you would possess, being
his assistant, the best means of explaining what might occur ?—I think not.

Your situation as assistant, would not have made you better acquainted
with what other persons around might see?—Not more than a common
spectator. -

Were you able to judge from the whole cperation whether this was an
ordinary case, or one of difficulty ?—It was evident there was considerable
difficulty in feeling the situation of the stone.

After the opening into the bladder we understand the forceps were used ?—
They were. :

Could you form any opinion whether they went into the bladder or not ?—
1 cannot, from personal experience of that operation, but 1 should say no man
would feel himself justified in introducing the forceps upon his finger unless
he felt convineed, by his finger, that an incision had been made into the
bladder.

Have you any doubt that the forceps went into the bladder >—None,

I mean after the first incision 7—None.

What was the position of the stone in this case >—It appeared to be in the
anterior part of the bladder, behind the pubes.

Was it high up or low ?=—High up. :

Does that situation account to your mind for the forceps not finding it ?—
Very satisfactorily.

Whether the straight or crooked foreeps t—Yes.

From the weight of a stone, where do you generally expect to find it >—1In
the inferior part of the bladder.

In the bottom of the bladder ?—Yes, in the hollow of the pelvis.

Is that the place where it is found in a large majority of cases ?—In a ma-
jority of cases.

What was the appearance of this stone :—An oval flat stone.

Does that shape serve to explain to you how it came to be in the position
you have mentioned }—No, it does not.

Does it explain how the forceps happened not to find it 2—It readily ac-
counts to me why it eluded the forceps.

Finding that the forceps did not get hold of the stone, what did Mr. Cooper
do next in the course of the operation ?—He tried to vary his forceps, he tried
several forceps, and other instruments that are generally resorted to in diffi-
cult cases ; the scoop is very often used in such cases.

Were you present at any experiment by the sound to see whether there was
a stone }—1I sounded the patient on the table before he was cut.

Had you any difficulty in ascertaining the existence of the stone by the
sound *—It was not felt in the usual manner, it was felt much more readily
upon withdrawing the instrument, and that gave us the impression that the
stone was in the anterior part of the bladder; it was detected not in the con-
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Was any great and unnecessary violence used *—I think none.

Were any instruments used except those that were necessary to meet the
apparent difficulties of the case ?—I think none. i

In your opinion, was the operation performed properly and scientifically,
or in & bungling and clumsy manner ?—I think it was performed, under
circumstances of very considerable difficulty, with as much care as the case
could possibly have received. :

Lord Tenterden—1 think your words were ** with as much care as the
case could be?"—Could. have required.

Mpr. Pollock.—Your words were * could have received »"—Yes, could
have received. o

Was the delay owing to the difficulties attending the case, or Mr. Cooper's
want of skill ?—1I think entirely from the situation of the stone, and the dif-
ficulty with which it was detected.

You have witnessed many operations performed by Mr. Branshy Cooper,
you say ?—Yes, many.

Is he a skilful surgeon generally ?—Yes, certainly. .

How many years have you known him *—I believe very nearly twenty, I
think it is now twenty years.

Do you know of his having been abroad with the army in the Penin-
sula?—I had the pleasure of his intimacy from that period.

Did you correspond with him ;— Yes, I did.

You knew he was in the army as an army surgeon?—Yes, both in the
Peninsula and in America, as an army surgeon.

Do you know of his having been at Norwich 7—1 do.

For what purpose >—He was then attending the Norwich Hospital.

Is that a hospital much celebrated for lithotomy >—Very much so, indeed.

More than any other county hospital in the kingdom *—Yes, more so than
any I am acquainted with. :

Do you know of his having been at Edinburgh —Yes, T do,

How long »—Certainly one year, I believe two ; 1 really forget which.

Was he there studying medicine >~He was.

Generally, is he a person of skill in his profession ?—I think so, certainly.

L'Ilo you think he is fit to be one of the surgeons of Guy's Hospital >—Cer-
tainly.

Is he there the lecturer upon anatomy ?—He is,

Did you attend the pos¢ mortem examination >—T did.

Who actually conducted the dissection =D, Hodgkin.

Was the bladder examined >—Yes,

And the rectum »—Yes.

In your presence —Yes, in my presence. g

Thereis a cellular substance between them, round the bladder >—There is.

Lord Tenterden.—Between the bladder and the rectum ?—Yes,

Mr. Pollock—Was your examination such as to enable you to say,
whether the forceps had ever been thrust with violence into the cellular tissue
not going into the bladder>—I saw nothing whatever in the post mhrrﬂ;
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The bladder is not fixed to any part by any unyielding substance except
the pubes *—No, : !

Has it any fixed points beside the one at the pubes?—No, it has certain
attachments ; it is connected with the surrounding parts.

As the bladder, when emptied of its fluid, contracts usually towards the
pubes, immediately behind the pubes, where would you expect to find the
stone but in that situalion *—It would fall into the hollow by its own gravity,
unless it was entangled, as it often is, in the folds of the mucous membrane.

What extent of cavity do you suppose there is in the bladder, when it is
emptied of its fluid ?—Not very considerable.

Are not the sides in general in contact >—No, they are congregated and
contracted in the body.

Do you believe there is a space usually equal to three square inches ?—No.

You state you have no doubt the forceps entered the bladder ; but did they
enter the bladder the first time they were tried ?—I think they did ; T was not
in a situation to see that, but I think they did.

If the bladder could not be reached by the finger, how could the finger act
as a director to the gorget?—I was speaking of my finger, and my finger
would not reach the bladder.

What do you mean by the shape of the stone, accounting for_it not being
seized by the forceps:—Because a flat stone is more difficult to get hold of
than a round one, and a small stone much more difficult to obtain than a
large one.

Do you mean that it is difficult to grasp it either by its long or its short
axis =1t is difficult in either case.

You stated that the enlargement of the opening required time to do it with
care }—Certainly.

How long are you cutting with the knife under such eircumstances:—
That depends upon the extent of the opening, and the circumstances attend-
ing it.

Would it take ten seconds »—It might.

How many times was the cutting gorget used »—It was only used once,

Are you positive it was only introduced once ?—1I will not be positive, but
I think not.

Did you desire the operator to explain as he proceeded ?—No; after it was
over, [ did.

Did he offer any explanation >—I do not think he did; my attention was
then directed to remove the patient from the table,

Did you speak immediately >—I believe T did.

How long does it take to bind a patient for the operation >—One minute ;
and perhaps to unbind him half a minute, or perhaps a shorter time,

Then, in fact, if the operator spoke to the pupils immediately he had re-
moved the stone, the patient was bound while he was explaining >—He was
unbinding.

Unbinding! he could not be unbinding if he was bound }—
moved instantly. He was re-

Did you assist in the removing >—No, I directed it
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Nor used words to that effect >—1T said I wished he was not a surgeon, that
is very likely: but I recollect the conversation, and I was quite on my guard
at that conversation.

You state that this operation lasted about fifty minutes *—About that.

Will you swear it did not last an hour i—No, really I will not; I'do not
believe it did. 1 had not my watch in my hand. Iheard from every body
that it was fifty minutes, and [ believe it was fifty minutes.

Did you on any former occasion sce the cutting gorget introduced after the
two knives had been introduced >—1I do not know that 1 have.

Will you be kind enough to tell me whether there is an incision made by
the cutting gorget in that preparation ?

The witness evamined the preparation,

1 do not know that I can distinguish between the two incisions, that made
by the knife and that made by the gorget.—( The witness again examined
the preparation.)—No,I cannot distinguish them, I can distinguish the inci-
sion in the bladder, that made through the external opening; but I cannot
distinguish any cut made by the gorget, from that made by the knife. 1 can-
not say which is made by the one, and which by the other.

Ts the prostate enlarged ?—It is a large prostate, but not enlarged.

How many incisions are there?—GCne: it is in a very different state now
from (hat in which it was on the pest morfem examination; it is much
harder in some parts, and others much macerated, and others much softer.

Lord Tenterden—Is it possible to form any judgment from that }—No.

Mpr. Wakley.—After the parts were removed from the body, did you en-
deavour to introduce your finger into the perineeum ;—The whole of the cel-
lular membrane was very easily lacerated, as is usually the case where the ope-
ration is fatal.

Was your attention particularly directed to the state of the cellular mem-
brane between the rectum and the bladder ¢—It was.

What are the most likely circumstances to produce that easily lacerable
state ?—1 suspect it to be a sub-acute inflammatory process. I have observed
ity in patients who have died under other great operations,

Would not bruises be more likely to produce such a state of the cellular
membrane than sub-acute inflammation ?—1I have seen that state produced by
the introduction of the foreeps in thosecases; but it is a different appearance.
It is an ecchymosed appearance, having the blood mixed with the mucous se-
cretion ; it is the effect of bruise; that is not so here.

Would not very violent bruises prevent the very small vessels of the cellular
membrane from bleeding >—Yes; but then there would be the appearauce of
bleeding, the vessels would retain their coagula.

What colour is the cellular membrane in its healthy state :—White, or a
cream colour rather.

What then could give it a darkened appearance if those vessels contained
no red blood *=~The cellular membrane.

Lord Tenterden.—~He has not said it had a darkened appearance }—1I have
not said so.

Mr. Wakley.—1 am asking what gave it that appearance ?
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1f the wound was large enough, you would not expect to see a NEW incision
with the gdrget *—No. ‘e

You have been asked whether, as you perceived the concave part of the
sound touched the stone, as withdrawn from the bladder, it was in the anterior
part of the bladder; and you have also been asked whether the operator
knew that. You could not tell what was passing in his mind »—No.

Did you observe he used the bent forceps }—Yes.

Could that be used except to get at the anterior part of the bladder :(—If it
was turned down.

Were they not bent up i—They were.

He used the bent forceps i—Yes; aud I pressed above the pubes at the
same time—the bent forceps did not touch it.

By his using the bent forceps at the same time you were pressing the pubes,
did you not conclude that he had formed the same judgment you had, that
the stone was in the anterior part of the bladder :—Yes.

Although the precise form or situation of it he could not determine any
more than you i—Certainly.

From what you saw of the appearance of the stone afterwards, when it was
taken out, do you not conceive it very possible that the bent forceps would
have lapped over it, and never got hold of it at all 7—Yes.

So that, finally, it could only be done by a dexterous use of the straight
forceps 7—And depressing the hands very much. .

Supposing the finger of the operator to be upon the prostate gland within
the incision in the prostate gland, might not he conduct the gorget with per-
fect safety, so as to enter it }—With perfect safety.

Without making any fresh incision !—Yes ; supposing the opening to be
large enough to admit it.

You have been asked whether it would take more than ten seconds to make
the second cut, is the simple operation of cutting the difficulty :—No. '

Is that what occasions the delay ?—Certainly not.

Who was the gentleman, the friend of the Defendant, that happened to
ask you these questions you have been asked about at the dinuer :—Doctor
Haslam.

You say you were upon your guard ?—Yes; he asked me the questions.

In your judgment, from all that you saw of Mr. Cooper’s operation, was
there any want of sufficient self-possession to know exactly what he was
about, and to know all his duty >—No; certainly not.

A Juryman.—You stated, that previously to the operation on the patient
you employed certain means to ascertain the existence of the stone >—TI did.

Did the means you employed enable you to ascertain the situation of the
stone }—Not distinetly.

Did you, previous to the operation, anticipate any difficulty }—1It is always
more difficalt when the stone is in the anterior of the bladder, it only falls
upon the concavity of the instrument, and not its convexity.

Did you anticipate any extraordinary difficulty in the case *—No.

Are you of opinion, there was a possibility by the introduction of the
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Do you happen to know of cases where it inay. have been difficult to ex-
tract the stone, although it may have been touched by the finger ?—1I have
et with cases of that kind myself. . '

Do you know the cause of the difficulty in that case ?—In consequence of
the bladder grasping the stone—I may observe that here is a preparation upon
the table which I have been in the habit of using for some years past, for the
instruction of the pupils on this subject, and you will observe that, in that
case the stone was held by the bladder, and no doubt in that case the stone
would have been difficult to get out.

TLord Tenterden—That stone never was extracted »—The patient died
without the operation being effected.

Myr. R. Scarlett.—Is the bladder a muscular substance7—Yes ; of great
power.

It has the power of contraction ?—Yes, it has.

Great power of contraction }—Yes.

May there be a case in which the stone, though not, properly speaking,
encysted, or even attached to the bladder, may be so entangled in the folds
of the bladder that the forceps will not reach it :—Unquestionably it is a very
common cause of difficulty in the operation.

Isthat as likely to take place in the case of a small stone as a large one ?—
Equally.

In such a case might the forceps be employed in sounding for the stone
for a considerable time without effect?—For a great length of time frequently.

They would not in fact touch the*stone?—I should imagine not, in
some Ccases.

You were not present at the operation>—No.

But you examined the body after death ?—I did.

In your judgment from the examination post moréem of the body, had
the operation been performed scientifically or otherwise ?—I saw no evidence
of it having been performed otherwise than scientifically.

If it had been true that any violence whatever (I do not speak of great or
unnecessary violence) but other than great gentleness—if any violence had
been used, is it probable you would have discovered the effects of it after-
wards ;—I certainly think so.

For example, if the forceps had been introduced between the bladder and
the rectum >—1 should certainly have discovered that after death,

In that case what would have been the state of the cellular membrane *—
Most likely a passage would have been found, through which the forceps
had been passed; it would have been torn, and the cellular membrane
highly ecchymosed, or filled with blood.

Do you speak of extravasated blood 1—Yes, extravasated blood, and like-
wise in a state of slough.

Did it present those appearances, or was it sound *—Entirely sound, T ex-
amined the parts particularly after they were taken from the body. Ican dis-
tinctly state that the whole of the cellular membrane on the outside of the
bladder, and between the bladder and the rectum, was perfectly entire,

If the forceps had been attempted to be introduced into the prostate gland
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staff will never answer in a deep perineum.” I answered Lo him, knowing
that a deep perinzeum had nothing at all to do with the staff, that a ﬁtmjﬂ!‘t
staff would answer equslly as well in a deep as a shallow perinzum, “ Bir,
you know nothing at all about it," knowing he had never performed the
operation himself, -

Lord Tenferden —The peringeum was not deep in this instance >—I can-
notsay. 1continued, * Sir, besides, if you call this a deep perinzum, I can
ouly tell you I have operated upon one twice as deep,” alluding to an extraor-
dinary case I had had about a fortnight before, but making no observation on
the perineeum in this case, having never seen the perinzum during life, neither
having seen the operation nor inspected the parts when the body was entire.
After death, I could give no opinion of the depth of the perineum.

Mr. R. Scarlett.—At this time you are not aware of the actual state of the
case !—No.

In what spaces of time have you seen Mr. Bransby Cooper operate for the
stone >—Certainly not more than the average time. A minute and a half, or
\wo minutes, or three or four ; according to the difficulties of the case.

Is that rather below the average >—I should say it was about the average.

1n cases of an ordinary kind }—Yes.

Did you ever tie the subclavian artery ?—Yes, I have twice.

Is that a common and easy; or an uncommon and difficult operation ?—I
consider that where it is tied for aneurism, or disease, it is by far the most dif-
ficult operation in surgery I have ever performed. I say, for disease, be-
cause 1he operation, where the parts are sound, as in the dead subject, is easy
enough, There is a great difference between a sound and unsound limb,
where this artery is tied.

Could such an operation be performed by any one, except by a surgeon of
considerable practice, and experience, and skill, and a good anatomist }—T
consider that it requires a very good knowledge of anatomy, great skill, and
great presence of mind.

Do you know of Mr. Bransby Cooper having performed this operation }—
Ido. I assisted him in it, so faras holding the parts back.

You saw him do 1t ?—Yes, [ did.

Did he do it well :—I never saw an operation better performed in my life.

Was that for aneurism *—Yes, for aneurism.

Do you recollect in how many minutes?

Lord Tenterden.—He has said length of time is not a criterion ; he never
saw one better performed, ™

Mr. R. Scarlett.—It does happen it was performed in a very unusually
short time. What in your judgment are Mr. Bransby Cooper's qualifications as
to his presence of mind and self-possession ?—1 never recollect having seen
him lose his preseuce of mind on any occasion.

Have yon seen him perform a great many operations ?—1I have.

Of all kinds 2—Yes, of all kinds,

I need hardly ask your general opinion of his skill *=I consider him to be
a good surgeon.
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there, and lost three; but then I should say, in justice to Mr. Cooper, that
the major part of these were young persons. :

On how many occasions has Mr. Cooper performed the operation in Guy's
Hospital >—1I cannot say, but it may be from twelve to fifteen times; it may
be more or less.

How many of his patients died ?—1I really did not keep an account of his
cases, it is quite enough to keep my own.

You stated that he had not lost more than the usual number, how do you
know that 3—1If there had been an unusual mortality I should have known it,
because he employs the instruments I commonly use.

How many instruments do you use }—The knife, in an ordinary case, the
staff, and a pair of forceps; and, if I want more in difficult cases, I should
use straight forceps, or crooked forceps, or scoop, or any instrument I thought
1 could extract the stone from the bladder with,

In what cases have youused more than three instruments >—I do not know
that T have employed in Guy's Hospital often more than three instruments,
but I cannot tell exactly. 1do not doubt, that Mr. Laundy, who is here, will
tell you he has handed to me several pairs of forceps.

Did you ever employ a scoop, unless the stone was broken ?—VYes, 1
have.

On what occasion ?—On the oceasion of a round stone, that was lodged in
the fundus of the bladder, that I could not dislodge by the forceps. I used
the scoop to draw the stone to the neck of the bladder, in which I succeeded.

You have stated, that the bladder is as likely to grasp a small as a large
stone. Do you consider that the sides of the bladder are in actual contact
when the urine escapes *—That depends upon whether the bladder contracts
or collapses; if it contracts, and there is nothing in it, it must come in con-
tact; if it collapses, it may not be so entirely in contact.

You stated just now that Mr. Lambert knew nothing of the operation of
lithotomy, because he never performed it,

Lord Tenterden.~He said he knew nothing about the use of the straight
staff, not about the operation of lithotomy.

Mr. Wakley.—How many cases of lithotomy had yon performed when
you wrote this work ?—1I think I had performed three operations before it was
published ; T had satisfied my mind as to the principle of the operation, with-
out more experience, and subsequent experience has proved I was not mis-
taken.

How many operations had you performed before it was written

Lord Tenterden.—1 do not see how this applies to this case,

Mr. Wakiey—This is very important; there has been a wvery severe at-
tack made upon Mr. Lambert.

Lord Tenterden.—This is so very minute.

~ Mr. Wakley—There is this passage in your work; “Ihad for a con-
mde!ah'le time past been in the habit of operating on the dead subject with
the lmttrumems I have described ; but, until very lately, I had no opportunity
of trying them on the living subject. To Sir Astley Cooper's kindness I am
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Lord Tentferden.—Hesays a man cannot be a pood surgeon unless he is a
scientific surgeon ; why are we to go into definitions ? :

If a man has good reasons for what he does, I conceive him to be a scien-
tific surgeon.

Did you have any conversation with the Plaintiff respecting this operation
in lithotomy, before the report was published }—1I never saw the Plaintiff’;
I never heard of the patient being about to be operated upon, and was not
present at the operation,

The question was, whether you had any conversation with Mr. Cooper
before the report was published in the ¢ Lancet”" about the operation ?}—I do
not recollect having had any conversation at all with Mr. Cooper upon the
subject.

Are you cerfain you had no conversation with him on the subject before
the report appeared !—I am certain that I had no conversation with him re-
specting the operation before the report in the ¢ Lancet.”

Have you had any conversation with the Plaintiff on the subject, since the
report appeared ?—I have had very little conversation with him upon the
subject, and really, the points upon which he has touched, I cannot recollect,
they are of no importance at all, he never explained to me the difficulties of
the operation, nor did I ever seek for an explanation,

As it was a difficult operation, and you have so high an opinion of Mr.
Cooper's skill, were not you anxious for an explanation of the difficulties in
this case >—It appears by my not asking, I was not anxious,

Did he not state to you that he had had a troublesome operation *—1I do
not think T saw Mr. Cooper between the time of the operation and the report.

Subsequent to the report ;—No; Ihave never had the particulars explained
to me at all, and I can give you a reason, because I heard that Mr. Cooper
was about to bring it into a court of justice, and I did not wish to give any
opinion upon hearsay evidence,

Asthe contributors to th: « Lancet” havebeen so highly spoken of, have you
ever contributed to the « Lancet ?"—On one occasion I brought to you a coms
munication for insertion in the “ Lancet,” and I will explain the reason ; du-
ring the separation between St. Thomas’s and Guy's, a memorial was pre-
sented to the committee at St, Thomas's, and in answer to that, Mr. Greeq
sent a reply, and that reply appeared in your paper, and on that account I
desired you would put in the rejoinder as well : that was the only time upon
which I 'had ever any communication at all with the * Lancet” as a publica-
tion. .

Do you recollect, subsequently to that, the appearance of an article which
you stated was very well written, in explanation of Mr. Cooper's conduct,
and in vindication of his character?—1I have not the most distant recollection
or idea of what you allude to.

In explanation of the affair respecting St. Thomas's museum ?—1I have not
the least recollection of having had any communication with you upen the
subject.

Do you not recollect an article of my own, a sort of leading article )—J-
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and the bladder, instead of opening the forceps, and although a very consi”
derable time had elapsed, the bladder had not given way in ils spasmodic
contraction. ;

If the patient was removed from the table after five minutes had elapsed, and
placed in his bed, and the stone was allowed to fall from its situation.where it
was grasped, what inconvenience would arise ?—What you would not like;
two operations instead of one.

Would it be any more than introducing the forceps a second time }—Oh !
God bless me, yes. I assure you it is no lighl matter to have the urethra
opened by a knife, and the bladder opened. Besides, how do you know the
same difficulties will not occur again. If I felt the stone I should certainly
persevere.

You state that the only difficulty is the contraction of the bladder; you ad-
mit that time must remove that, and then the difficulty is at an end!—An
hour perhaps might remove it, but it was impossible to ascertain that; you
talk about the bladder as if it was a bladder out of the living body. If you
had ever put vour finger into the bladder of a living body you would
have known—I do assure you, you know no more of what is going on in
a man’s interior, than you do of what is going on at present in the moon.

If I could not have known when [ was present and had my finger in the
bladder, how can you know when you were not at the theatre }—You could
not put your finger in the bladder.

You said, suppose I put my finger in ¥—Io, I said no such thing,

Mr. Wakley.—I beg your pardon.

Re-examined by SIr JAMES SCARLETT.

You spoke of assistant surgeon; your nephew had been an army surgeon
before he came there :—He had been an assistant surgeon in the army.

Had he been your demonstrator of anatomy >—Yes, he had. .

To your satisfaction :—So much to my satisfaction that it was the reason
why [ was pleased at his being elected surgeon at Guy’s Hospital ; for I found
-that the students had, all of them, been so gratified with the clearness of his
demonstrations, that they were extremely anxious indeed, that a man who
could communicate knowledge so easily, should have the means of convey-
g 1t

Wicriam DaLryMPLE, Esq., sworn.—Examined &y Mr. PoLLoOCE,

Are you surgeon of the hospital at Norwich >—I am senior surgeon there,

How long have you been surgeon there?>—I have been assistant surgeon
and surgeon of that hospital rather more than sixteen years,

Have you had much practice in lithotomy in that hospital *~We have had,
from the first institution to the present day, a large experience in that particular
operation, We were established in 1771, and we have a cabinet which con-
tains specimens of the produets of 659 operations for the stone.

Was Mr. Bransby Cooper a pupil there ?—I remember Mr. Bransby Cooper
coming to Norwich to serve his apprenticeship with one of the SUrgeons or
one of the assistant surgeons of the Norfolk and Norwich Hospital ; and I
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